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Homes North acknowledges that Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people are the traditional 
owners of the land upon which we work and live 

across the New England North West, and we 
pay our respects to elders past and present.



Our Values
Integrity we treat our tenants, partners, and stakeholders with 
empathy and respect 

Professionalism we maintain high standards as individuals, and 
as an organisation, and constantly strive for improvement 

Respect we will continue to be an employer of choice, showing 
respect and loyalty to our staff who deliver excellent service to 
tenants, partners and communities

Our industry achieves both social and financial aims. We are 
viable, ethically run businesses driven by strong missions and 
values. Income sources include rent, subsidies and fees from 
services. Our profits are reinvested to improve services and 
increase the amount of housing we can offer.

In 2009 independent industry-wide regulation was introduced. 
This oversight provides assurance to our clients and partners and 
reduces risk to investors. The regulation of the industry has also 
accelerated its professionalisation.

We take our corporate duties seriously. Our organisations are 
professionally governed with skilled boards to oversee our 
businesses.

We are recognised by partners and clients as excellent tenancy 
and property managers, which is our core business. Our efficiency 
is shown by our low levels of unpaid rent and rapid turnarounds of 
vacant properties. We also receive high satisfaction ratings from 
our clients. 

Compared to the general community, community housing 
tenants are more likely to face some form of disadvantage, like 
unemployment or a disability. In addition to delivering safe and 
secure homes, we help clients stabilise their lives, maintain their 
tenancies and engage with their communities. We successfully 
partner with a wide variety of organisations to provide vital and 
highly valued support services to clients. 

Community housing providers are place-based organisations; 
we have been working in the local area for over 30 years. The 
impact is felt well beyond individual clients, with Community 
Housing providers being large financial contributors to their local 
economies. We work closely with partners to build community 
connections and regenerate local areas. We have developed 
sophisticated partnership networks with councils, local service 
providers and government agencies.

We are increasingly working with investors, property developers, 
government and other partners to deliver new housing. These 
partnerships bring together land, funding and expertise which no 
single partner could assemble alone. 

Like other property owners, we can also take out loans against 
our assets to invest back into increasing the number of Community 
Housing properties available.

Community Housing is a growing industry with the potential to 
offer private investors secure returns. 

Our Mission
Homes North is a community anchor in New England North West 
NSW. Working through partnerships and alliances, we provide 
a range of appropriately designed, well-managed affordable 
housing for people on low to moderate incomes. 

Our Vision
Building strong regional communities 
through the provision of high quality 
housing services 

Our Vision, Mission and Values

What is Community Housing
The community housing industry delivers high quality rental housing for people on low to medium incomes. 
We provide vital support services to clients and help build strong communities. 

Tax exemptions, which include GST,
land tax and stamp duty

Land contributions from local and 
state government

Land use and planning arrangements
which provide incentives for including 
a�ordable housing.

At Homes North we pride ourselves on: 
Strengthening Communities, Supporting Individuals 
and Providing Excellent Service, and we are 
preparing ourselves for the next stage of growth.

Our competitive advantages:
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Our History 
of Growth

Armidale Community Tenancy 
Scheme managed a programme 
to house youth, who at the time 
were not eligible to be housed in 

public housing.

 Armidale Community Tenancy 
Scheme merged with Gunnedah 
Community Tenancy Scheme to 

become Homes North 
Community Housing

Homes North merged with 
Glen Innes Accommodation 

Homes North took on the 
management of most public housing 
dwellings in Gunnedah, Glen Innes 

and Tenterfield through a ‘whole of 
town’ transfer programme.

Homes North was awarded 
the management of new 
social housing dwellings 
being constructed in the 

New England through the 
Nation Building Economic 

Stimulus Programme 
(NBESP) 

 Homes North merged with 
Inverell Community Housing.

1992

19982006

2007-2009

2014

2011-2012

Our Company Objectives
* Number of Properties: 1992 - 2015

•  Create secure, affordable and 
sensitively managed housing 
opportunities for low income 
households, regardless of race, creed, 
colour, gender or sexual orientation. 

• Encourage the support of all levels of 
government for the development and 
expansion of Community based non-
profit housing programmes. 

• Take up equity in properties wherever 
possible. 

• Identify unused publicly owned 
properties and bring these under 
the Company’s management where 
appropriate. 

• Work for the prevention of the further 
loss of accommodation for low income 
earners and the associated escalation in 
accommodation costs which is causing 
dispossession and displacement of 
these people. 

• Raise public awareness and 
understanding of the social contexts 
within which people become homeless 
or poorly housed.

• Encourage the involvement of tenants in 
the management of their own housing. 

• Focus on the housing needs of those 
population groups discriminated against 
in the private rental market and/ or 
excluded from other public housing 
programmes. 

• Inform assist and co-operate with other 
organisations and with all levels of 
government concerned with housing 
issues. 

• Liaise with and complement existing 
housing provision and housing support 
services. 

• Strive for: 
1. a just and equitable distribution of, 

and access to, housing resources in 
NSW; 

2. community and consumer involvement 
participation and representation in 
planning and implementing housing 
policies; 

3. an integrated approach to housing 
and human settlement including 
consideration of necessary facilities, 
amenities, opportunities and 
community supports. 
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CANBERRA

DUBBO

SYDNEY

MOREE

62
PROPERTIES

INVERELL

49
PROPERTIES

GLEN INNES

155
PROPERTIES

ARMIDALE

213
PROPERTIES

GUNNEDAH

170
PROPERTIES

TAMWORTH

370
PROPERTIES

Homes North covers the New 
England North West region, 

with offices located in Armidale, 
Glen Innes, Gunnedah, Inverell, 

Moree and Tamworth. 
1019 properties and counting

S t r o n g  r e g i o n a l  c o m m u n i t i e s  t h r o u g h  t h e  p r o v i s i o n  o f  h i g h  q u a l i t y  h o u s i n g  s e r v i c e s

Our
Region

  

 Our Portfolio
 As at 30 June 2015 Homes North managed 1019 properties across the New England North West region under a range of programmes. The 
Department of Family and Community Services, through Community, Homes and Place, currently funds much of Homes North’s portfolio. 

The portfolio can be broken down under the following programme areas:

456 Capital Properties:  
The capital programme allows 
Community Housing providers to lease 
Land and Housing Corporation owned 
properties, and sublet to eligible 
clients. Homes North collects all rents 
and pays all expenses associated 
with the properties and is responsible 
for all aspects of long-term asset 
maintenance planning.

250 Stimulus Properties:  
These are properties where title was transferred from 
Land and Housing Corporation to Homes North for the 
express purpose of providing Homes North with the 
capacity to leverage against the transferred assets 
to procure additional social housing. Caveats on title 
require that these properties are used for the purpose 
of social housing.

191 Leasehold 
Properties:  
The leasehold 
programme provides a 
subsidy for Homes North 
to rent in the private 
market and then sublet to 
a low income household 
at a reduced rent.

76 Fee for Service Properties: 
Homes North has contracts where 
it provides tenancy and property 
management services on a fee-for-
service basis. This arm is managed 
separately from our community housing 
portfolio and caters to the client 
organisations. These services are only 
provided to organisations providing 
social and affordable housing, and 
include: Aboriginal Housing Office 
(Employment Related Accommodation), 
Mara Mara Community Inc, Tamworth 
Local Aboriginal Lands Council and 
Uniting Care Ageing.

27 Housing NSW Affordable Properties: 
This affordable housing programme is a 
partnership with Family and Community Services 
and allows households on low to moderate 
incomes to pay rent at 20% less than the market 
rate . The properties are located in areas with a 
high concentration of social housing. The aim of 
the project is to encourage a greater diversity 
of residents within these localities. Tenants in 
this programme also use the discounted rent to 
assist them to save to purchase their own home.

19 Homes North 
Freehold Properties: 
These are properties that 
are owned by Homes North 
which have either been 
acquired or developed 
by leveraging assets 
transferred via the Stimulus 
programme. The properties 
are let to households on low 
to moderate incomes, who 
pay rent at 20% less than 
the market rate so that they 
are also able to meet other 
basic costs of living without 
experiencing “rental stress” 
(paying more than 30% of their 
income on rent).

45%
24%

19%

7%
3%

2%
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Business Objective 1
To undertake evidence based research that 
enhances our businesses, provides opportunities 
for funding and informs innovation.

Business Objective 2
By being an effective community anchor and through 
advocacy and communication, raise awareness of 
regional issues at local, regional and national levels.

Business Objective 3
To provide networking and support 
opportunities across all levels of the 
organisations to enrich best practice

Business Objective 4
To have clear and succinct framework of 
governance based on the values of the 
Housing Alliance

Achievements:
• The four CEO’s of the Housing Alliance completed a successful study tour of 

UK housing providers in October 2014
• Commenced negotiations with UK based organisations to establish an 

Australian Social Value Bank
• Continued to benchmark outcomes across the Alliance and joined NSWFHA 

House Keys benchmarking program

Achievements:
• Submissions made to NSW Premier’s Innovation Initiative, Social Housing 

Discussion Paper and NSW Parliament Public Accounts Committee Inquiry 
into Tenancy Management in Social Housing  focusing on regional issues

• Homes North CEO presented to the NSW Legislative Council enquiry into 
Social, Public and Affordable Housing

• CEO’s attended the NSW Social and Affordable Housing Discussion forum 
convened by Minister Hazzard

Achievements:
• Active network groups across all organisational levels from Directors, CEO’s, 

Middle Managers and specialist workers
• Held 4th Annual Alliance Forum in Sydney
• Cross partner training for new staff
• Joint policy development undertaken

Achievements:
• Housing Alliance Charter created and adopted by all four Boards
• MOU reviewed and resigned
• Clear and succinct Strategic Plan developed for Housing Alliance
• Completed SWOR at annual Housing Alliance Forum
• Housing Alliance Annual Report developed for all four members Annual Reports

The Housing Alliance is a strong 
alliance of comparable regional 
housing organisations who through 
collaboration, innovation and sharing, 
strengthen their delivery of services at 
a local level.

The Housing Alliance offers a vision 
to the greater community housing 
sector of an innovative redefinition 
of a sector culture based on trust 
and focussed on collaboration over 
competition.  Indeed, community and 
collegiality is why we work in the 
social housing sector, and the Housing 
Alliance is consciously structured to be 
an embodiment of those values.  

Stronger than a ‘partnership,’ but 
stopping short of a merger, the 
Housing Alliance’s four member 
organisations, when taken together, 
become one of the largest CHPs in 
the country by number of tenancies 
managed (approximately 3,320).  

The Alliance synergies are that all 
four organisations provide community 
housing services in regional NSW 
locations, all have operations spanning 
large geographic areas with multi-site 
offices, all are registered as mid-size 
Class 1 or 2 providers within the sector, 
all have recently experienced rapid 
growth in response to government 
policies such as stock transfer.

The Housing Alliance is a mechanism 
that allows the four members 
to remain viable, independent 
and anchored within their local 
communities while reaping some of 
the benefits of scale and a larger 
operation.

The Housing Alliance
Purpose 
To share knowledge and build ’agile capacity’. Consultancy, legal, technical and other costs can be spread 
across four organisations.  This will build a culture of strategic agility with alliance members able to effectively 
respond and innovate for regional solutions to housing need.

Best  Practice 
Service Delivery 

Through 
Networking

Evidence Based 
Research Through 

Networking

GOVERNANCE

Advocacy/
Group Regional 
Representation

Trust
To trust  each  other in an honest, fair 

and reliable way.Values Openness
To encourage open sharing of opinions, 

views and resources.

Excellence
To srtive to excel and make a positive 

difference in everything we do.

Equity
To value and respect each other as equal and unique 

members of the Housing Alliance.
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It was mentioned at the AGM last year 
that I would step into the role during the 
year, this took place in April. I would like to 
thank Rex Gream for his commitment and 
contribution as Chair and also his guidance 
as I transition into the role. 

The 2014/2015 year has been another year 
of success and growth on many levels of 
our current Strategic Plan. Our organisation 
continues to strengthen and we strive to 
have the client as our main focus whilst 
making strategically focussed decisions 
at Board level. I am always warmed by 
the positive outcomes that Homes North 
is able to deliver for our clients and the 
community.

The introduction and appointment of 
the new roles of Service Development 
Officer and Tenant Participation Officers 
has added a new positive dimension to 
our organisation. Both have enhanced 
engagement and links with our 
communities and our clients.  

The merger with Inverell Community 
Housing which covers 115 properties in 
Inverell and Moree has increased our reach 
across the region and was accomplished 
successfully without much disruption to the 
clients due to the commitment of the team 

involved. The merger was an important 
strategic decision for the Board as it has 
enabled Homes North to build further 
capacity and also to cement our role as a 
key regionally-based not-for-profit service 
in the New England North West of NSW.

The implementation of our new integrated 
IT system has been a constant focus of 
the Board this past year, and we are now 
beginning to see some outcomes from 
the new system. This is a sophisticated 
integrated software platform with the 
capacity to support our organisation in its 
future growth, with functionality to provide 
many levels of reporting to further enhance 
our ability for informed decision making at 
Board level. 

You will see by our financial report that 
our financial position is still strong with an 
underlying operating surplus of $291,957, 
even though an additional net expenditure 
of $339,186 was incurred to meet 
commitments under the merger agreement 
with Inverell Community Housing. This 
indicates we continue to be financially 
strong which provides a firm foundation for 
growth opportunities which may present 
in 2016. 

Chairperson’s Report
We are progressing our first development, 
located at Stephens Street, Armidale, 
which is very exciting for the organisation. 
Appropriate design is a primary focus of the 
Asset Team. We as a Board look forward to 
seeing the progress of this development 
over the coming year. 

Homes North continues to be a proud 
member of the Housing Alliance, which 
continues to go from strength to strength 
in its role of advocating for regional NSW 
and building the capacity of its individual 
member organisations. We held our annual 
Housing Alliance forum and agreed on 
the focus for the next year at all levels of 
our organisations. There are a number of 
current projects that are underway and this 
collaboration is assisting all organisations 
to provide excellence in service whilst 
supporting our individual Strategic Plans. 
It is clear that housing providers are being 
supported and encouraged to expand 
and innovate their business’ to be more 
holistic in their service delivery and better 
support client outcomes. In preparation for 
this the Housing Alliance Boards supported 
their CEOs to undertake a study tour of 
the UK which provided insight into a way 
forward for community housing in Australia.

It is clear that housing providers are being 
supported and encouraged to expand and 
innovate their business’ to be more holistic 
in their service delivery and better support 
our client outcomes. 

As a Board we continue to move towards 
becoming more skilled and informed. 
This year there have been attendances at 
the Better Boards Conference. We have 
acquired memberships to governance 
and director’s institutes and we held 
a facilitated board retreat. The retreat 
included the senior management team; 
this provides a great opportunity to hear 
the team’s perspective on the Strategic 
and Operational plan. It is an annual event 
and provides time to focus on outcomes 
and actions for the up and coming year as 
well as build relationships at Board and 
Management levels.

The Chief Executive Officer, Maree 
McKenzie has had a very busy, and at 
times challenging, year of growth in many 
aspects of our operations. The Board is 
very grateful for her continued energy, 
focus and commitment to her staff team, 
the organisation and the community. Her 

leadership is outstanding and we fully 
appreciate her expertise.

I would like to thank my fellow board 
members for their support, time and 
commitment throughout the year. I would 
also like to thank the Audit and Risk 
Committee members for their expertise, 
time and commitment. Board Directors 
farewelled Mary Devine during the year. 
The organisation is very appreciative of 
Mary’s many years of dedication, and 
as a previous Chairperson from 2004 to 
2009, of her successful stewardship of the 
organisation through major growth phases 
and significant challenges.

The next year will bring many opportunities 
for the organisation with the roll out of 
new government initiatives, housing 
opportunities and funding prospects. As a 
Board it is our role to remain informed and 
focussed on governance to ensure we are 
making decisions with positive outcomes 
for our communities while remaining 
aligned to our strategic plan. I believe we 
have the skills, the governance structure 
and a robust team to achieve this.  

This year it’s my pleasure and a privilege to be addressing you as the new 
Chairperson of Homes North Community Housing (Homes North). 

2014/2015 year has been another year of 
success and growth on many levels ...

Josephine Heslin
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In the past tenant engagement activities were the responsibility 
of the housing teams and progress in this area was limited due to 
the competing demands of housing management. Under the new 
structure Tenant Participation Officers are specifically charged with 
delivering engagement activities and outcomes. A year into this 
structure we are seeing significant benefits from the activities our 
Tenant Participation Officers are undertaking:

• activities that are tenant initiated and directed e.g. fund 
raising by tenants for other tenants in need, tenants 
propagating plants to give away to others in their 
neighbourhood  

• identifying activities that directly respond to tenant needs 
e.g. information session on aged-care sector reforms

• Upskilling of residents e.g. computer courses

• Social activities to combat social isolation

These activities support healthy communities and help to re-image 
social housing.

2. Merger with Inverell Community Housing
The merger, as at 1 July 2014, included taking on the management 
of 115 properties in Inverell and Moree. We look forward to serving 
the Moree and Inverell communities, and believe we are off 
to a good start with the completion of upgrades of the capital 
properties in the portfolio, and the co-location of the Moree office 
with support agencies to provide better integrated services. This 
growth spurt has enabled us to re-structure and include specialist 
roles within the organisation. It has also resulted in an expansion 
of our geographic reach - now encompassing the majority of the 
New England North West NSW. Homes North is proud to be a 
strong, expanding locally-grown organisation providing services 
specifically for communities in the New England North West 
regions of NSW.

3. Procurement and implementation 
of integrated housing-management 
software 

During the financial year we implemented, in stages, new 
integrated housing-management software specifically designed 
for the social housing sector. This project was a major undertaking 
and has absorbed much of our focus throughout the year. The 
software, however, is the platform for improving our service 
delivery. It greatly increases our capacity to effectively manage 
a large portfolio of properties and associated tenancies as we 
no longer need to maintain separate systems for our finance, 
asset management and housing services. The software also 
has increased reporting capacity and workflow management 
functionality. Realising the full capacity of the system will be a 
priority of the financial year 2015/2016.

1. Organisational review
To ensure we had the capacity and skills to implement our 
service development objectives an organisational review was 
undertaken at the commencement of the financial year. The 
review involved an analysis of future service needs required to 
deliver the strategic plan, as well as those resulting from the 
merger with Inverell Community Housing. The review involved 
initial consultations with staff to identify their priorities and our 
gaps. Further analysis followed with input from senior managers: 
identifying our operational requirements for continuing to develop 
the quality of our services as well as expand and improve support 
for clients.

New positions:
Service Development Officer
This new role is now embedded in our structure and has seen 
immediate dividends with greater engagement with stakeholders, 
the acquisition of additional funding, implementation of a quality 
improvement plan and the commencement of work on measuring 
our social impact. 

Tenant Participation Officers
A central component of our goal to develop excellence in service 
delivery is embedding tenant participation and social inclusion into 
the operations of the service.

Homes North recognises that tenant participation and 
engagement improves the service we provide, as well as benefits 
residents, it:

• Empowers residents to impact the service that we deliver

• Provides opportunities for social inclusion

• Provides valuable feedback to Homes North on the quality, 
appropriateness and effectiveness of our services

Performance
2014/2015 was a very challenging year for maintaining our key 
performance indicators, due to very significant commitments 
required by the organisational review, the merger and the 
implementation of new IT. So it is quite an achievement to 
have met our performance targets in arrears management 
and completed our property upgrade schedule. Time taken 
to re-tenant vacant properties remains an area for significant 
improvement. Although a major stumbling block in improving 
in this area is our lack of control over the allocation of specific 
properties set aside for clients with specific needs. This aside, 
it remains evident that internal practices have much capacity 
for improved efficiencies. An intervention plan has been put in 
place to turn our results around in this key area. 

Focus for 2015/2016
Much of our immediate focus will be on utilising the full capacity 
of our new software to improve service provision. This includes 
reviewing all housing management policies and procedures: 
firstly, to ensure the software supports our policies, and 
secondly to ensure our procedures align with both the software 
and our policies.

Another significant piece of work will be preparing our 
organisation to take advantage of opportunities for the 
Community Housing sector that are arising on many fronts: the 
announcement of the NDIS rollout from 1 July 2016 in NSW; the 
State’s new Social Housing Policy, soon due for release; and 
the $1B Social and Affordable Housing Fund, with applications 
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report
2014/2015 was the second year of 
delivering on our current 3 year 
strategic plan.
Three very significant activities were undertaken 
during the year that were central to delivering 
on our strategic goals of Strengthening 
Communities, Supporting Individuals and 
Providing Excellent Service. 

expected to open early next year. Although our strategic 
plan has positioned us well for these opportunities, it is now 
time to ensure our operations are well and truly ready to 
take on the challenges that will need to be met to deliver 
expanded services to our communities in the New England 
North West. In this annual report you will read accounts of 
what our service means to communities and individuals, 
and we embrace the opportunity to do more. I was 
supported by the Board to undertake a study tour of the 
UK late last year, along with our Housing Alliance partners. 
The insights I gained on the tour have convinced me that 
Community Housing is underutilised in Australia, and that 
the sector should be working not only to deliver what we 
do now but to have an even greater positive impact on 
individuals and communities. 

Maree McKenzie - Chief Executive Officer 

Lynne Beiers, Councillor Colleen Fuller and Maree McKenzie at the Gunnedah Stakeholder Forum14 HNCH Annual Report 2014/2015



STRENGTHENING CO
M

M
UNITIES

Homes North will provide leadership in the New England on social and affordable housing issues, 
acting as the region’s leading community anchor.

Raise the profile of 
the role and potential 

of community housing 
and Homes North in 

the region

Initiating projects 
and events that 

connect services to 
clients along 
the housing 

continuum

• Consumers are made aware of the service, organisational 
ethics and capacity

• Potential partners identified to improve service delivery
• Community values the service provided and the stigma of social 

housing is reduced

• Integrated housing response along the housing continuum
• Better use of resources, coupled with better outcomes
• Appropriate and timely support for clients

How?

How?

Benefit to consumers

Benefit to consumers

 Strategic Plan Goal 1 Strengthening Communities

The first of Homes North’s three strategic priorities is Strengthening Communities. We believe 
that strong communities are healthy communities, and healthy communities are home to 
happy people. We believe Homes North can contribute to strengthening communities in a 
variety of different ways, including:

• Providing secure and affordable housing - so that  people have a strong and stable foundation upon 
which to build their lives

• Assisting people to build personal networks - so they can support each other, reduce social isolation, 
enhance their own social and emotional wellbeing and give back to their community

• Creating strong professional networks to ensure appropriate supports and services are accessible to 
those who need them

• Employing locally and ensuring money spent stays in the local economy

16 HNCH Annual Report 2014/2015



Tenant Participation

At our Barney St committee we have had some concerns brought to the attention of Homes North that have been resolved, that would have 
gone unnoticed if it wasn’t for tenants voicing their concerns.

The results of the 2015 
Tenant Survey showed a 

2% satisfaction increase 
with the ability to influence 

Homes North’s decision

“Since moving back to Armidale and moving into my unit 
I have enjoyed the communication with the staff at Homes 
North. I am also enjoying the contact with people here and 

the forming of a resident group.”

Anonymous quote from our Tenant Survey 

Johnston St Morning Tea Roderick St BBQ Barney St Residents’ GroupAged Care Forum for Gunnedah Tenants

STRENGTHENING CO
M

M
UNITIES

Jacky Fleming

Homes North has a strong commitment to Tenant Participation as we believe involving our 
tenants in how our service operates not only assists Homes North, but more importantly is of 
great benefit to our tenants. 

This year Homes North employed two part time Tenant Participation Officers (TPOs). These 
are dedicated positions created to support and empower tenants, including ensuring our 
tenants have avenues to influence decisions about Homes North’s operation. 

Our TPOs have set up a number of Tenant/Resident Groups across our region, which meet a 
variety of our tenant’s needs. For some these meetings provide a regular social opportunity, 
assisting to reduce social isolation. For others they are a vehicle to receive information and 
support, or a pathway to create change. 

 The benefits of Tenant Participation ...   

A Tenant’s Perspective
Written by Jacky Fleming – Barney Street Resident’s Group 

Some examples are:
• Bollards in our driveways have been 

removed.

• Information on how underground water 
tanks are implemented.

• Lights in the walkways outside our 
door- who pays for the electricity 
usage.

• Broken tiles on stairways – repaired.

• Who is responsible for our bin area?

• Given contractors name.

• Needed soil for common garden areas 
- Homes North found who was best 
contractor for price & quality, and soil 
has been delivered.

What is also great about having these 
meetings is that you meet other 
tenants, and we have been given lots of 
information on things such as:

• Courses available to do eg computers, 
Rent It Keep It

• Resources that are available for any 
help you might need eg New England 
Medicare local services now called 
Healthwise

• You can have special speakers come to 
your meetings eg. How to save on your 
electricity bills.

{ {
“Your voice with many voices gets issues resolved”
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My name is Jodie McNamara, and I was 
a woman who lived under the tyranny of 
Domestic Violence. My sense of worth 
and self-esteem was incredibly low. I felt 
useless and trapped. At the same time, I 
felt hopeful that the relationship might get 
better — it never did!

One day after another abusive 
experience, I decided I had had enough. 
I thought to myself I deserve better than 
this and my children deserve better and 
that they should not need to live in fear. 
Something began to change in my life and 
I decided to seek help from a variety of 
service providers.

It was hard to walk away, in fact one of 
the most difficult decisions I have had to 
make, but my new found determination 
kept me pushing forward, and with it 
came an additional sense of belief in 
myself. I wanted to be a good role model 
to my children and to show them that 
they can have a better life. I wanted to 
teach my sons about respecting women 
and communicate to my daughters that it 
is unacceptable to be treated with such 
disrespect.  

As a single parent on Centrelink benefits, 
which I supplemented with a part-time 
cleaning job, I found I needed to be frugal 
in my spending. I completed a Lifeline 
course to become a telephone counsellor. 
It was while I was at the Lifeline office I 
became aware of a Traineeship on offer 
from Hunter Valley Training Company. 
However, I did not know the company 
where the traineeship would occur.  

I made it through my first interview and 
a short while after my second interview 
I was offered a traineeship with Homes 
North. During the year I was asked to do 
a Certificate III in Business. Included in 
this certificate were a few units in Social 

Lavenia Weatherall is a proud Gomeroi 
woman who was born and raised in 
Moree. She moved in to her Community 
Housing property in 2009, when it was 
originally managed by Inverell Community 
Housing, and then became a tenant of 
Homes North when the two organisations 
merged in 2014.

Lavenia had been a stay-at- home mother, 
looking after her two youngest children, 
but with money being a struggle, she was 
keen to get back into the workforce. She 
wanted a position that had flexible hours 
so that she could still be at home for her 
children before and after school, and liked 
the idea of a job where she could be of 
help to her community.

Lavenia applied for the Moree part time 
Housing Officer position with Homes 
North and was extremely happy to be 
successful.

Jodie McNamara 
Homes North Housing Officer

Lavenia Weatherall 
Homes North Housing Officer

Another of our tenants, Trish Burley, was supported to undertake a Basic Computer Skills course 
at TAFE, so that she would feel confident to take on the Secretariat role for her Tenant’s Group. 

An excerpt from a letter she wrote (on the computer) to Homes North expressing her gratitude for 
the support and encouragement provided by one of our Tenant Participation Officers >>>>>

Trish Burley

Empowering and Upskilling Tenants

Creating
Employment
Opportunities

Housing. I enjoyed my time at Homes 
North, but knew it was only a traineeship 
that would last for one year. However, a 
full-time position for a Housing Officer was 
advertised at Homes North. I applied and 
was successful.  

As a mother of 4 children, I feel secure in 
my position and it has built my self-esteem 
and my confidence has grown. I have 
a deep respect for my work colleagues 
and I experience from them a profound 
sense of appreciation and value. Although 
I enjoy the responsibilities of being a 
mother, having a full time job has given 
me a purpose other than homemaking.  

The work is incredibly enjoyable and it has 
taught me that if you really put your mind 
to something you can achieve it. Having 
a great workplace provided me with an 
awesome support structure where I feel 
safe and valued.

She says she “likes everything” about 
working at Homes North, “the flexibility of 
my hours and all the staff are really nice 
and helpful”.

Lavenia knows lots of the local Aboriginal 
Community, which she says really helps 
her with her job. However sometimes she 
has to say to people when she runs into 
them “work is work and home’s home”, 
and ask them to come and talk to her 
when she is back in the office, which she 
says they are “usually pretty good about”.

With so much to learn, Lavenia is hoping 
to do the Certificate IV in Social Housing 
to assist in her supporting clients and to 
further her own skills.

Lavenia said her position with Homes 
North has really helped her out financially, 
and she is proud to be independent and 
earning her own money again. “I want to 

be a good role model for my kids, and 
they love that mum’s got more money 
so that we can go to the pool on the 
weekend and sometimes have takeaway 
for dinner”. 

“Doing the course has given me the 
confidence to try things on the computer that 

before I was afraid to have a go at in case I 

mucked it up. Well I still do muck it up quite a 

lot but now I know how to get out of trouble.
I have learnt Power Point and Excel 
Spreadsheet.

Along with the basic computer skills.A lot crammed into the 10 week course. It has 

me looking to continue doing more.Again many thanks to Anne and all the Staff.
Trish Burley

STRENGTHENING CO
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There is often a generalised stigma attached to people who live in Social Housing, about the “type” of people that they 
are – but at Homes North we know that there are a vast range of people that access Social Housing. For some it is 
merely a short term “leg-up” out of a temporary situation, and for others it is their pathway to independent living. 

Klean Az
Mark Breitkopf is a current tenant of Homes North, originally 
from Walgett, who has been living in Armidale since June 2014. 
Mark had always been interested in the idea of starting his own 
business, so this year he enrolled in the New England Enterprise 
Incentive Scheme run through the Business Enterprise Centre. 

As a social housing tenant Mark understood the need for vacant 
properties to be cleaned and maintained. So after successful 
completion of his course, Mark developed a business plan to 
take on the cleaning of vacant rental properties. This led to the 
creation of his new business – Klean Az.

Klean Az has given Mark the opportunity to work as a Contractor 
for Homes North, which has assisted in building his business 
network and provided the opportunity for him to expand and 
achieve his goal of owning his own small business.

Homes North would like to commend Mark for his hard 
work and determination in making Klean Az a success.

Dolls for Dementia Sufferers
Karen Jurd has been a tenant of Homes North since 2008. She 
is a woman who loves to give any type of craft a go, but over the 
last twenty years she has developed the very specialised skill of 
making beautiful heirloom, one of a kind, life-like dolls. 

Karen has always challenged herself to see what she is capable 
of doing and her passion and pride in what she does is clearly 
visible in the exquisite quality and realism of the dolls that she 
creates. 

“Making dolls helps me relax and reduces any anxiety I 
experience,” Karen says, “and these heirloom dolls can be 
passed down from generation to generation”.

Recently Karen was approached by Uniting Care to make dolls 
for some of their clients who suffer from Alzheimer’s disease. 
There has been some research involving doll therapy which has 
shown repeatedly that dolls can soothe and comfort people 
with dementia. Apart from this calming effect on dementia 
sufferers, other observations have included a reduction in 
wandering, increased communication and improved speech. 
Some caregivers involved in the research felt that the effect was 
the result of the individuals having a sense of purpose or focus 
which was provided by the need to care for the doll.

Karen was keen to use her doll making talents to assist 
dementia sufferers in this way. She makes very little profit from 
her dolls; considering her work a labour of love and a chance 
to do something meaningful for others. The dolls she supplies 
to Uniting Care come with a birth certificate, care instructions, a 
second hand-knitted outfit, bunny rug, toy brush and comb and 
a bottle. 

This is such a wonderful initiative and another example 
of how Homes North tenants are giving back to their 
communities.

STRENGTHENING CO
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Paul & Emma Nicol

Mark Breitkopf

Sharon Klower (Uniting Care) & Karen Jurd (Homes North Tenant)

Uniting Care Dementia Doll Pack

Tenants
Strengthening
Communities

of fresh produce a week, and their business was becoming too 
big to operate from home, so they decided to open New England 
Fruit Vegetable shop in Grey Street Glen Innes.

Paul said that the locals have told him that all the previous 
residents of the house they are living in have gone on to bigger 
and better things, and he hopes that the same will happen for 
them. And from the way things are looking, it certainly looks like 
they are on the right track!

New England Fruit Vegetable 
Paul and Emma Nicol decided to move from Taree to Glen Innes 
for the sake of their kids’ education. That and the fact that Emma 
could no longer stand the 45 degree heat during the summer in 
Taree, particularly living in a house with windows that didn’t open. 

When Homes North staff rang and offered Paul the property in 
Glen Innes he couldn’t believe what he was seeing on google 
maps and accepted the property without even looking inside.

Once moving to Glen Innes, Emma noticed that there wasn’t a 
fruit and vegetable shop in town, so she sent Paul to Rocklea in 
Queensland each week to collect fresh fruit and vegies which they 
then began selling via Facebook and word of mouth around town. 
It wasn’t long before Paul and Emma began supplying local clubs, 
pubs, restaurants and nursing homes in Glen Innes, Tenterfield 
and Inverell. By this stage they were selling up to 60 mixed boxes 

Many of our tenant’s personal stories are 
inspiring, not only for what they are able to 
achieve for themselves, but often for what they 
are contributing back to their communities.

When asked what Paul thought of his house in Glen Innes he replied “Awesome!!”
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Lorraine Smith in her front garden

A spectacular garden grows in one of the most challenging streets of Gunnedah and it is all due to a 
remarkable women called Lorraine Smith.  

The Gift of Gardening

Hope House Community Garden

Hope House in Gunnedah

Hope 
House
Homes North took over the management of the Gunnedah Estate 
in 2008. With such a high concentration of social housing, issues 
often associated with disadvantage were compounded in the 
one location, and therefore occurred with higher frequency in 
the Gunnedah Estate area in comparison to the greater area of 
Gunnedah Township. 

Homes North developed a Gunnedah Estate Management Plan to begin 
addressing some of the concerns in the area. The plan included a 
wide range of strategies including beautification measures to make the 
environment look less like an estate, and transfer and allocation policies to 
assist with tenancy management, but one of the key focusses was to assist 
in strengthening the community. To do this Homes North partnered with 
The Salvation Army, providing a house at peppercorn rent in the heart of 
the Gunnedah Estate, and in April 2012 The Salvation Army Hope Cottage 
(House) officially opened its doors.

Since the opening of Hope House, The Salvation Army has not only 
redeveloped the grounds of the cottage, including new lawn, children’s 
play fort and sandpit, and the development of a community garden on 
the block next door, but they have also greatly extended the range of 
programmes they have on offer.

The types of programmes Hope House delivers include: Positive Lifestyle 
Programme for Adults, free financial counselling and budgeting tips, the No 
Interest Loan Scheme (NILS), Playgroup, craft groups, five day food parcel 
pickup, and voluntary work programmes which allow people to pay off 
their fines (for example, Court fines), or reduce their Community Service or 
Intensive Correctional Order hours.

By the end of 2014 Hope House was seeing an average of 80 to 100 
people accessing the service per week.  Its true success comes from local 
members of the community not just accessing the programmes on offer, 
but utilising the cottage as a “community hub” to seek support for whatever 
is going on in their lives; from needing help in understanding court papers, 
writing affidavits, or being a young person suspended from school. 

Hope House provides such a warm and welcoming environment that 
many people drop-in on a regular basis just for a cup of tea and a chat, 
reducing their social isolation and increasing their connections with local 
community members. Even those members who have finished working off 
their correctional hours have stayed on participating in the Pallet Furniture 
programme as they had become part of the Hope House community.

The success of the project and the positive impact of the service provided 
by The Salvation Army Hope Cottage to the district was recognised in 2013 
when the manager of Hope House received a Paul Harris Fellow from 
the Rotary Club of Gunnedah, and then again the following year when 
the manager received a Citizen of the Year award from Gunnedah Shire 
Council.

Whilst there is still a long way to go in supporting people to achieve their 
aspirations, and in improving life on the Gunnedah Estate for its residents, 
Hope House has been a great catalyst strengthening the local community. 

 

Having been a tenant with Homes North for more than seven 
years, Lorraine has used this time to develop a beautiful 
vegetable garden and a place of peace in her back yard.  Her 
front yard is full of colour and charm which helps to brighten 
up her street. Lorraine says she enjoys the outdoors and 
seeing plants grow gives her a sense of pride and happiness; 
gardening also assists to eliminate boredom and helps her to 
relax.  

Originally coming from a farming property she has carried her 
love of gardening in to town with her starting with a vegetable 
patch first.  Lorraine says, “Having vegetables saves me money 
and growing my own is much healthier”.  Well on the way 
to being self-sufficient, Lorraine also has a small hen house 
where she keeps three chooks.  She makes good use of their 
manure on her garden and she gets the added benefit of also 
enjoying their fresh eggs.

One would think Lorraine had enough to do with maintaining 
her garden, but she has also started propagating plants so 
that she can give them out to people in her community for 
free.   She does this as a way of sharing the joy of plants 
and encourages others to find the therapeutic benefits of 
gardening.

Lorraine’s gardening efforts not only help her to maintain 
her own health and wellbeing, but she also contributes to 
beautifying her neighbourhood. And now with her propagating 
endeavours she will be spreading these benefits to her 
community one plant at a time.
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“ H a v i n g  v e g e t a b l e s  s a v e s  m e  m o n e y  a n d  g r o w i n g  m y  o w n  i s  m u c h  h e a l t h i e r ”

Lorraine Smith in her front garden
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Community Partnerships

“We believe that a sincere 
and outcomes focussed 

collaboration 
can change lives.”

Pathfinders

Richmond PRA

Mission Australia

Gunnedah Familyn Support

Kirinari Community Services

Challenge Community Services

Inverell Accommodation Services

Tamworth Family Support Service

Byamee Moree Area Homelessness Services

Armidale Women’s Homelessness Support Service
 Many Rivers Regional Housing Management Services
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BoysTown 
Joblink PlusNorthern LinksGunida GunyahTamworth Police

Armidale Sanctuary

Billabong Clubhouse
Trustee and Guardian

NSW Business Chamber

Sunnyfield Independence

University of New England

Mara-Mara Community Inc

Best Practice Constructions

Tamworth Regional Council

Tenterfield Community Hub

Hunter Valley Training Centre
Tamworth Family Referral Service

Tenterfield Family & Youth Support
Tamworth Local Aboriginal Lands Council

Family and Community Services, Ageing, Disability and Home Care (ADHC)

St Vincent de Paul Society

Inverell Shire Council 

Moree Plains Shire Council
Tenterfield Shire Council

Glen Innes Severn Council

Gunnedah Shire Council

Armidale Dumaresq Council
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When focussing on strengthening our 
communities and supporting individuals, we 
know that we can’t do it alone. Homes North would 

like to acknowledge and thank the following organisations and individual 
staff for supporting Homes North Community Housing and our tenants 

throughout the year.
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The second of Homes North’s three strategic priorities is Supporting Individuals. We believe that every 
individual deserves the right to secure and stable housing which provides them with the foundation to 
live rich and meaningful lives. Homes North supports individuals in the following ways:

• Providing secure and affordable housing to some of the most vulnerable people in our community
• Supporting our customers to sustain their tenancies
• Treating people with respect and dignity; viewing their challenges in a holistic way and acknowledging that 

different people have different needs
• Actively linking people with supports to assist them overcome any issues they may be facing

 

SUPPO
RTING INDIVIDUALS

Providing services to specific groups in housing need within the region

Aboriginal community members

Homeless community members

Older people

People with disabilities

• Sustaining Aboriginal tenancies
• Improve stability for clients and provide environment 

for individual/family development
• Capacity to reduce costs in the long-term

• Integration of services to deliver and sustain 
housing after homeless episodes

• Improved age specific service delivery and earlier 
responses to aged homelessness identification

• Improved integration of services to customers with disabilities
• Engagement with DHASI partnership (ADHC/HOMES)

How? Benefit to consumers

 Strategic Plan Goal 2 Supporting Individuals

“Homes North have been wonderful. 
I am so grateful for having this place 
to live since coming out of the women’s 
shelter. It was a great comfort to my 
daughter and I. They have always 

been helpful. I am forever grateful for 
the help that is there 

when you need it.”

Anonymous quote from our Tenant Survey  
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91% 91% 

42% 42% 

92% 92% 

93% 93% 

93% 93% 

92% 92% 

 Supported Tenancy Survey

We would like to thank the 90 tenants who participated in the 
survey, Dianne Beatty from Alt Beatty Consulting for conducting 
the interviews, and especially the support agencies and individual 
support workers who provide an excellent service and contribute to 
many of our tenants being able to sustain their tenancies. The results 
also validate the hard work undertaken by our staff in accessing and 
maintaining our partnerships with the support services.

Supported Living Providing Independence

said they were satisfied or very satisfied 
with their support worker and agency

said they got enough support from their 
support worker and agency

said they would tell someone if they thought their support 
worker or agency had done something wrong or improperly

said that their support was important or very important to 
them living independently and maintaining their tenancy

said they were confident or very confident that with 
their support they would sustain their tenancy

reported being involved in community 
groups and/or activities

In Australia, if we are to reduce homelessness, improve the quality of the lives of the disadvantaged within our community, and 
keep people from becoming institutionalised, we need to support people who need it to live in the community. This is what 
Homes North does, and we want to be sure our partnerships with support providers are delivering outcomes. To assess the 
support provided to our tenants, this year Homes North contracted Alt Beatty Consulting to survey a sample of our tenants who 
are receiving support services from a variety of agencies including: mental health, disability, women’s, family and community 
support services, as well as Specialist Homelessness Services. The survey was conducted via either face to face interview for 
tenants living in group settings or phone interviews for others. In total 90 interviews were conducted.

I n  s u m m a r y  t h e  v a s t  m a j o r i t y  o f  t e n a n t  r e s p o n d e n t s  w e r e  v e r y  h a p p y  w i t h  t h e  s u p p o r t  t h e y  r e c e i v e  f r o m  t h e i r 
s u p p o r t  w o r k e r,  p r o v i d e r  a n d  H o m e s  N o r t h .  T h e  s u r v e y  a l s o  p r o v i d e d  u s  w i t h  i n s i g h t s  f o r  f u t u r e  i m p r o v e m e n t .

Thankyou

Sometimes life can take unexpected twists 
and turns and people can find themselves in 
situations where they need a little extra help. 

Thankfully Homes North has a number of partners in place 
that can provide supported living options for those people 
who may need it.

Marcia Givney moved into a Homes North unit which is 
supported by Uniting Care Ageing. The location of her unit 
enables her to regularly visit her husband who had taken up 
residence in a nearby Nursing Home. Not long after Marcia 
moved in, her son Darin’s medical condition deteriorated, 
and he was forced to give up his work as a locksmith and 
move in to live with his mother.

For the next three years Marcia took on the role of Darin’s 
full time carer. Although grateful, Darin longed to gain back 
his self-respect and independence, and wished to release 
his aged mother from the burden of having to look after him.

Homes North successfully referred Darin to the HASI 
(Housing and Accommodation Support Initiative) General 

programme. Under this programme, and through a Service Level 
Agreement, Homes North Community Housing provides tenancy 
and property management services and our support partner, 
Richmond PRA, provides 24/7 support.

Residents at the complex have stable and appropriate 
accommodation, which is linked to appropriate 24/7 mental 
health and accommodation support. This project allows people 
to overcome the sometimes debilitating effects of mental illness, 
including in many cases institutionalisation, and live independent 
lives connected to their community.

Being in supported accommodation under the HASI General 
programme has enabled Darin to participate in a range of activities 
including painting, gardening and working out at the gym. Darin 
enjoys the autonomy of having his own unit and the freedom it 
allows him; he is able to make his own choices, like when he 
wants to visit his mother. 

Darin’s recovery goal is to find a suitable job and 
eventually move towards living independently 

in unsupported accommodation.

 

Darin painting in TamworthDarin & Marcia Givney

SUPPO
RTING INDIVIDUALS

A key role played by Community Housing is assisting community members who 
otherwise couldn’t sustain a tenancy. 
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It’s about ME

It’s about the HOUSE It’s about PEOPLE

It’s about MONEY Its’s about PURPOSE

The response from the 19 tenants who have 
participated in the programme has been 
overwhelmingly positive; here are some 
of their comments:

“Learned about myself more and I realised I need to ask 
for help before it gets out of hand.”

  “I discovered I impose barriers and I am very defensive.  
This programme is easy to follow with no fancy words”.

  “I appreciate I can write whatever I like and after I share 
the topic with the facilitator I can keep the workbooks.”

  “The questions make me think.  I would recommend 
others to do this and I have been telling people about it”.

  “The most helpful area of Rent It Keep It is all of it”.

  “Helped me understand about money and budgeting”.

  “It opened my eyes and made me think I need to stop 
being a door mat and practise being assertive”

Housing NSW developed a training package, Rent It Keep It, to assist people who are seeking private rental 
accommodation gain the skills to secure and maintain a tenancy. 

Preventing homelessness is not just a matter of providing 
someone with a roof over their head, that is often just the first 
step.  Homelessness, particularly chronic homelessness, is a 
complex issue that requires both support and skill development 
to enable a person to sustain a tenancy and break the 
reoccurring cycle of homelessness.

Tamworth Family Support Service (TFSS) is the Specialist 
Homelessness Service provider for the Tamworth region 
under the Going Home Staying Home reforms; assisting 
youth, men, women and families who are homeless or at risk 
of homelessness, including women and children affected by 
domestic and family violence.

Homes North and TFSS have a strong and productive 
partnership, with our Tamworth Team referring both applicants 
who are in need of housing as well as current customers of our 
service whose tenancy may be at risk. 

We know that if one of our tenants is supported by TFSS, they 
are far more likely to have a successful tenancy. TFSS provide 
a client centred case management model, so they are able to 
determine each individual’s needs and work with them to build 
on their strengths.

SUPPO
RTING INDIVIDUALS

Rent It ... Keep It – It’s about me!

At Homes North we have tailored the Rent It Keep It programme to 
provide a holistic support programme to our tenants who may be 
at risk of losing their homes.

The programme is voluntary, and there are five workbooks that 
are delivered over a five week period in a relaxed individual 
one-on-one setting. The five sessions can be seen in the 
diagram above.

The programme is presented in a conversational manner where 
the facilitator gains an understanding of the underlying issues 
that may be going on with the individual, and are impacting their 
tenancy. Together the facilitator and participant explore new ways 
of thinking and behaving, and journey towards creating positive 
outcomes, which may include introducing local service providers 
to lend additional supports.

Although each topic is important, the programme is flexible in 
nature which allows the participant and the facilitator to go back 
to an area of difficulty to revise the original problem, should the 
tenant need further assistance. 

After completing the five workbooks participants are presented 
with a certificate to recognise their achievement. They then 
receive a minimum of three follow up visits from the facilitator, 
which supports them to continue their progress.

 Homes North is committed to supporting our tenants to not only develop the skills to maintain a tenancy, 
but also to cultivate the skills to live fulfilling and independent lives.

Outcomes through partnerships:  
A focus on Specialist Homelessness Services

If one of our tenants is starting to get behind on paying their 
rent, with their consent, we will refer them to TFSS, who will 
assist them with financial planning, and develop a budget to get 
their finances back under control. They also assist our tenants 
with such things as property care, interpersonal conflict and 
parenting skills. These early intervention strategies ensure that 
any potential problems don’t escalate, and assist our tenants to 
maintain their tenancies and avoid homelessness.

TFSS also provides crisis accommodation, as well as intensive 
case management support to people in our transitional 
accommodation, assisting them to develop the skills to live 
independently.

We are thankful for the excellent service that 
TFSS provides, our strong working relationship, 
and for the many Homes North clients that they 
have supported over the last year.
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The Kiehne Family

Racism and stereotyping continue to impact on the ability of 
Aboriginal people to secure housing in the private rental market. 
Homes North and the Aboriginal Housing Office (AHO) is focussed 
on delivering better choices for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people in NSW.

The Employment Related Accommodation (ERA) programme is 
a National initiative that supports Aboriginal people wanting to 
relocate to take up work, study or training in a regional centre. 
Homes North works in partnership with the AHO to deliver this 
programme in our region, with 16 ERA properties available across 
Tamworth and Armidale.

Jodi Sampson identifies as a proud Gomeroi Man who has been 
living on the Gold Coast for the past 20 plus years. Wanting to 
“return to country” to give back to his mob, following on from his 
own journey in Aboriginal Community Development, Jodi moved 
to Tamworth to take up a position with Aboriginal Affairs NSW. 

Employment Related 
Accommodation (ERA)
The disparity between Indigenous and non-Indigenous housing 
standards and homelessness rates is still having a major impact on 
the health and wellbeing outcomes and lower attainment levels of 
education and employment of Aboriginal people in Australia. 

Affordable Housing 

SUPPO
RTING INDIVIDUALS

Uncle Barry & son Jodi Sampson Raysheem Clark

Rental costs in Gunnedah have risen dramatically since mining 
expanded in the area six years ago, and renting has become 
unaffordable for many working households. The median weekly 
rent for a three three bedroom house in Gunnedah is $298, and 
$412 for a four bedroom property.

As a family of five they were finding it difficult just to pay for the 
basic essentials and found it impossible to save any money, which 
was of great concern to them.

Damien is a mature age apprentice diesel fitter and Michelle 
is studying Beauty and Education online through Swinburne 
University.  

While talking on the phone to a friend who lives in an Affordable 
Housing unit in Queensland, Michelle went online and googled 
“Affordable Housing” to see whether this was a programme that 
she could access. Her internet search lead her to the Homes 
North Community Housing website, where she found out that the 
Affordable Housing programme was available in Gunnedah, as well 
as information on the eligibility criteria and application form.

Michelle quickly contacted a Homes North office, and a Housing 
Officer was able to guide her through the paperwork, which 
resulted in her application being accepted and being offered an 
Affordable Housing property in her local area of Gunnedah.

Damien and Michelle Kiehne moved to Gunnedah with their family last year in April and 
found the private rental market to be significantly higher than where they previously lived. 

Michelle says this opportunity has made a huge 
difference in their lives and they would not have 
been able to stay in Gunnedah if it weren’t for 
the Affordable Housing Scheme. It has brought 
their family a sense of security and has also given 
them the chance to save for a deposit for their 
own home.

When he arrived in Tamworth to start his new job, Jodi stayed 
at Tamworth’s Aboriginal Hostel. After finding out about the ERA 
programme, he applied via Homes North and was successful. After 
being in Tamworth for only a few weeks he was able to move into 
his ERA property which he now shares with his Dad (Uncle Barry).

Jodi hopes to have more contact with the rest of his family 
members who are spread across the New England North West 
region, but is happy calling Tamworth home for now.

Raysheem Clark is another success story supported by the ERA 
programme. The programme allowed her to relocate from Taree to 
take up a full time position with the National Australia Bank (NAB). 

Raysheem had successfully completed a traineeship with the NAB 
in her home town of Taree, and was then offered a full time role 
with the NAB in Armidale. It was a big move for Raysheem at just 18 
years of age, especially without having any family or other support 
networks in Armidale. However, since moving to Armidale early in 
the year, Raysheem has thrived in her role at the NAB and in her 
new town. Raysheem greatly appreciates the assistance of the 
ERA programme, which helped to make her move to Armidale and 
the pursuit of full time employment, possible. 

Focus on delivering better choices for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in NSW.
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Homes North will continue to be recognised by our tenants and peer organisations for the quality of service we provide. 

Develop and implement a revitalised 
tenant participation structure

Develop and sustain a culture of 
operational excellence by transitioning 

the operations of the organisation out of a 
period of rapid growth and consolidation 

to one of continual improvement 

Develop a consistent culture of service 
excellence and continual improvement

Professionalise the image of the service

Integrate asset services into admin/
finance and housing management

Meet Nation Building Economic Stimulus 
Programme acquisition targets for 2015-16

Ensure corporate governance activities are 
appropriate for the nature and size of the 

business as it grows and develops

Working in partnership with the Housing 
Alliance to build the resilience and 

independence of Homes North

Maintain a consistent performance culture 
across all sections and locations

• Empowerment of service users
• Improved appropriateness and effectiveness of our service
• Increased Community support for customers

• Consistent, accountable and transparent service delivery 
• Efficient and confident service from staff

• Consistently excellent and efficient service
• Better informed and more engaged clients
• Well maintained properties

• Efficiencies resulting in opportunity to deliver more services and properties
• Improved service delivery

• Access to a trusted brand

• Ensure ongoing provision of appropriate and safe accommodation 
• Value for money services

• Deliver additional housing options to New England North West

• Assurance the Company has oversight commensurate to risks
• Ensure the strategic direction responds to community and client needs

• Efficient and innovative service provision with local focus
• Provide benefits of Alliance collaboration to all staff where appropriate, to build 

on service excellence

Benefit to consumersHow?

Strategic sub-goal:
Expand our framework for tenant participation that embeds these activities into the 
operations of the service and transforms tenant participation into a hallmark of the service.

Having a strong 
Governance Framework 

Having a culture of 
continuous quality 

improvement 

Investing in the 
development of 

our sta� 

Investing in our 
IT systems

Listening to annual 
feedback from our 

customers

Transparency in all 
aspects of our business 

from decision making 
to finances

Setting targets to 
improve our 

performance

Working with others to 
increase our 

organisation’s 
capacity

 Strategic Plan Goal 3
The third of Homes North’s three 

strategic priorities is Providing 
Excellent Service. We believe that 

our customers deserve an excellent 
service, where they receive a fair, 

friendly, transparent and consistent 
experience. Homes North strives 

to achieve this by :

Providing Excellent Service

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE
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Board of Directors Margaret Hansell Director: Appointed 10 October 2011

Current Position Consultant, Insurance and Risk Management; Partner Bindawalla B&B; 
Bindawalla Beef Production

Qualifications Graduate Certificate of Management – University of New England; 
Bachelor of Commerce – University of New England; Fellow, Australian 
and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance (ANZIIF), 
Certificate IV Workplace Assessment and Training

Experience Various roles with Allianz, GIO and Marsh Insurance including Risk 
Management

Special Responsibilities Chair of the Audit and Risk CommitteeJosephine Heslin Chairperson: May 2015 

Appointed 15 February 2012

Current Position Manager and Coordinator, Ageing & Disability Sector

Experience Previously Project Manager in the Ageing and Disability Sector; 
Manager of an Independent Living Retirement Village; Mortgage 
Advisor and Business Owner.

Special Responsibilities Employee Liaison Officer, Housing Alliance Representative

Rex Gream Chairperson: July 2014 – April 2015

Appointed 11 April 2008

Current Position Administrative Manager – Roberts & Morrow Financial Planning

Experience Over 35 years in the banking and finance industry; board experience 
with other community welfare organisations.

 Specific experience in approving development loan applications 
including assessment of costings, progress payments and end 
valuations, monitoring of progress payments, and inspections.

Special Responsibilities Alternate Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 

 Mary Devine Director: Appointed 18 Sept 2002 – Resigned 14 May 2015

Current Position Regional Transport Coordinator, Transport NSW

Qualifications Bachelor of Social Work, Associate Diploma Welfare Worker

Ian Downs Director: Appointed 1 February 2010

Current Position Education Consultant; Director of New England Girls School Ltd.; 
Director of the NSW Federation of Housing Associations; Secretary – 
Tilligerry Lions Club

Qualifications Bachelor of Arts – Sydney University, Diploma of Education – Sydney 
University, M. Ed (Hons) University of New England

Experience Principal at Farrer Memorial Agricultural High School, Tamworth and 
NEGS, Armidale; Director of Boarding – The Kings School, Parramatta; 
Chairman of Glen Innes Hospital Board; Chairman of North West region 
Aboriginal Education Advisory Board; Member of Finance Committee 
Challenge - Tamworth

Malcolm McGown Director: Appointed 24 November 2008

Experience Extensive small business experience

Qualifications Diploma of Agriculture (Hons.), Real Estate Practice Certificate

Special Responsibilities Company Secretary – Appointed November 2009

Johan (Hans) Director: Appointed 19 May 2014
Mouthaan
Qualifications Trade and Building Certificate

Experience Extensive project home management

Jane Michie Director: Appointed 16 June 2015

Current Position Research Support Officer – University of New England

Qualifications Master of Business Administration (Professional Accounting – 
University of New England; Bachelor of Arts – Newcastle University; 
Diploma of Government (Management) – Australian Institute of 
Management

Experience Over 20 years’ experience in management and finance in the medical, 
financial services, community services and local government sectors.

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

Governance 
Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd is incorporated as a company and is governed by a skills-based Board of Directors. There are 
currently seven Directors with Mary Devine having resigned from the Board in May 2015, and Jane Michie being appointed in June 2015. The 
Board of Directors bring with them backgrounds in risk management, policy development, housing services, banking, community services, 
business management, large-scale residential development and education.

 The Board meets every month except over the December/January holiday period. The Board is responsible for the company’s corporate 
governance and strategic direction. The day-to-day management and implementation of the strategic plan and business goals are the 
responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer.

Homes North, although it has no legal obligation to do so, endorses the Corporate Governance principles and 
recommendations published by the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Council.

 “I am passionate about community service, 
and Homes North strives to provide excellence 

in service and client outcomes”

  “I believe that everyone has the right to be able 
to access good quality housing at an affordable 

price. Homes North supplies that.”

  “I am totally committed to supporting the provision 
of appropriate housing opportunities for low income 

families in rural NSW.”

“I am committed to the work that Homes 
North does as I believe that housing 
should be accessible for everyone.”

“I feel passionate about Homes North`s 
commitment to provide affordable rental 

housing to disadvantaged people in our area.”

“We pride ourselves on the delivery of service 
excellence, trust and respect to our low 

income and disadvantaged clientele”

 “I’m passionate about understanding and 
responding to the needs of its clients through local 

knowledge and the employment of local people.”
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COMMUNICATE

GOOD FAITH

RESPONSIBILITY

INTEGRITY

SUPPORTIVE

RESPECT

We will communicate in a 
positive, clear and concise 
manner using the appropriate 
method and tone, listening 
without judgement.

We will act with good faith; 
consciously choosing to 
believe that people are acting 
with good intent, giving them 
the opportunity to clarify any 
misunderstandings.

We will work ethically and with 
integrity; conducting ourselves 
professionally, maintaining 
confidentiality and always 
being honest.

We will be supportive and work 
as a team; showing 
understanding to one another 
and providing encouragement.

We will show respect at all 
times; valuing our di�erences 
and treating people how we 
want to be treated.

We will take responsibility 
and ownership of our own 
behaviour and actions.

.

Homes North is committed to retaining local offices across the New England North West 
region to ensure our service can respond effectively to community needs.

All administration, finance and reporting functions reside within our Armidale office and are managed by the Chief 
Executive Officer and Manager of Business Services. The company also has an Asset Team in Tamworth, overseen by 
the Asset Manager, to ensure the efficient management and maintenance of the asset base. Housing management is 
delivered through our local offices, and is overseen by two Service Managers. 

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

Our Structure

2 par t time
Tenant Participation O�icers

Board of Directors

Service Development O�icer Chief Executive O�icer Executive Assistant

Service Manager
Arm/Glen/Inv/Moree

SHM/
Team Leader

3 Housing
Managers

1 Arm, 1 Glen, 1 Inv

2 Housing O�icers
1 Arm, 1 Pt Moree

3 Reception/Admin Assistant
1 Arm, 1 Glen, 1 Inv

Asset Manager

2 Technical O�icers

2 Asset Administrators

Manager Business Services

Finance Manager

Accounts O�icer
Payroll/Acc Payable

Accounts O�icer

Service Manager
Gunnedah/Tamworth

SHM/Team Leader

4 Housing O�icers
1 Gunnedah
3 Tamworth

2 Reception/Admin Assistant
Tamworth

1 Housing Manager

Our Staff Charter

Points of CultureOrganisational Chart

Over the 2014/2015 period Homes North staff participated in a facilitated process to develop our Staff Charter. They created a 
Points of Culture document which sets out the ground rules for how they wish to interact with each other in the workplace.

Homes North highly values our staff, and we know that happy staff provide excellent service. We would like to acknowledge 
their efforts in developing their own charter and working well together as a team to deliver great outcomes for our customers.
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2014/2015 Report Card

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

“It has been excellent and I am loving the 
place that I live. The ladies in the office 
are friendly and helpful. Great service. 

Excellent quality of home” 
Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

Over 2014/2015 
Homes North 
received a total of 

22 complaints 
that fell in to the 
following categories:

Homes North values our complaint management system and acknowledges that complaints are a vital quality control 
and service improvement tool. The graph helps us identify where we need to focus our resources, and also identifies 
what is important to our clients. The results will inform our next operational plan.

Rent 
Arrears
Benchmark – 4% of rent charged

Customer 
Satisfaction
Benchmark – 85% (Registrar benchmark 75%)

1 Unjustified

1 Appeal

2 Application/Transfer

6 Nuisance & Annoyance

2 Repairs, Maintenance & Upgrades

4 Homes North Service Quality

5 Contractor Service Quality 1 Other

Supported 
Tenancies
Benchmark – 18%

Complaint 
Turnaround Time
Benchmark – 28 days

Vacant Tenantable* 
Turnaround Time 
(As per the Registrar of Community Housing definition)
Benchmark – 14 days

Vacant Un-Tenantable** 
Turnaround Time 
(As per the Registrar of Community Housing definition)
Benchmark – 28 days 

 3.3% 89% 17%25 days 26 days 48 days***

* Vacant Tenantable refers to properties that are ready to be occupied 
** Vacant Un-Tenantable refers to void properties that require significant upgrade works to be completed before they can be re-tenanted, 
*** Our Vacant Turnaround figures for 2014/2015 are well above the Registrar’s benchmark. Homes North has implemented an intervention plan to improve our results in this area.  
NOTE: Properties awaiting sale and properties damaged by fire not included in these figures

2014/2015 Performance 2014/2015 Performance 2014/2015 Performance 2014/2015 Performance 2014/2015 Performance 2014/2015 Performance

“I am very satisfied with 
Homes North and I have 

recommended them to heaps 
of other people.” 

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey
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 339 - 55 years and over  (37%)

 489 - 25 - 54 years  (53%)

 92 - 24 years and younger  (10%)

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

Where does our money come from?Where does our money go?
7%
Borrowings

35% 
Rent - Capital Properties

17% 
Rent - Leasehold Properties

3%
Rent - Capital Transitional2% 

Rent - A�ordable Housing

22%
Rent - Owned (HN & Stimulus)
Properties

12%
Leasehold Government Grant Subsidy

1% 
Fee for service

9% 
Routine Repairs and Maintenances

10% 
Property Upgrades

22%
Service Delivery Sta�ing Costs

22%
Leasehold property rent paid

14% 
Direct Property Costs including 
rates, insurance and common area
maintenance

7%
Administrative Overheads

5%
Loan Repayment

11% 
Investment in new properties

O u r  s t a t i s t i c s  d e m o n s t r a t e  w e  a r e  a s s i s t i n g  o u r  c o m m u n i t y  m e m b e r s  m o s t  i n  n e e d

Who did we help this year?

2014/2015 Report Card

In the year 2014/2015 In the year 2014/2015 In the year 2014/2015 In the year 2014/2015 As at 30th June 2015

47% 
new tenancies 
homeless at the time 
of allocation (102)

26% 
new tenancies who  
were young people 
[24 years and under] (56)

63%  
new tenancies in 
greatest need 
at the time of 
allocation (136)

451   
Tenancies assisting 
a person with 
a disability (49%)

“I am very pleased with everything Homes North has done in 
my situation. Around 18 months ago I found myself homeless 
with two young boys.If it weren’t for services like this I would 
not know where me and my boys would be today. Thank you. “ 

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

215 
new households

As at 30th June 2015 

237 
Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 
tenancies (26%)

Tenancies as at 30th June 2015 by age:    
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88% 88% 

26% 26% 

88% 88% 

88% 88% 

92% 92% 

Tenant Survey

It is pleasing to see that Homes North has again surpassed all of the Federation Benchmarks for 2015. Of particular note are the results in 
complaints, property condition, tenant engagement and communication which were all well above the industry average. Property condition 
results are a testament to our asset team’s diligence in completing our planned maintenance schedules. 

Some other things our tenant’s told us:
are satisfied that Homes North 
upholds their rights as a tenant

are satisfied that Homes North 
treats them fairly

are satisfied that their rent 
is value for money

said that they were likely to recommend 
Homes North to family and friends

of surveyed tenants aren’t sure or don’t understand how their rent is calculated. This 
continues to be a complex communication task which requires consistent focus and effort.

“Had it not been for Homes North 
giving us rental accommodation 

our lives would be in a worse 
situation than today. 

Well done Homes North.” 
Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

Overall Satisfaction Satisfaction 2015 NRSCH Threshold 2015 Federation Benchmark Change
2015 Vs. 2014

Housing Services 89% 75% 85% -4%
Repairs 78% 75% 77% -5%
Property Condition 94% 75% 85% +2%
Complaints 65% 52% -3%
Neighbourhood 86% 83% -6%
Communication 88% 83% -2%
Tenant Engagement 82% 76% -2%

Each year Homes North participates in an independent tenant satisfaction survey which is conducted by the NSW Federation of Housing 
Associations on behalf of Homes North. We believe it is important to listen to what our customers have to say about our service so that we can 
work to improve our performance.  Last year we achieved a satisfaction rating of 93%, so this year we encouraged our residents to give more 
feedback on where we needed to improve. 

This year’s Tenant Survey results will inform the focus of our service delivery improvement for the coming year. Our tenants have told 
us that the top three areas which have the highest levels of dissatisfaction all relate to our complaints process. Work on improving the 
management of our complaints has commenced and will continue to be a priority area for us to work on over the coming year.

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE
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12% 12% 

3% 3% 

3% 3% 

18% 18% 
28% 28% 

15% 15% 

6% 6% 

15% 15% 

Improved 
employment status

Improved 
educational attainment

Improved 
physical health

Other

Improved 
mental health

Improved 
financial situation

Better connected to services/
support/community

Increased security 
and stability

In what ways has your life 
improved since living in a 

Homes North property?

23% 23% 

5% 5% 

45% 45% 

3% 3% 

24% 24% 

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

Survey Summed Up ... We believe that housing is an essential human need that 
provides the foundation for healthy lives. In 2015 we asked 
our tenants what impact being housed by Homes North 
had on their quality of life. Now we know that what we 
believe is largely the experience of our tenants.

How much, if at all, has your life 
improved since living in a 

Homes North property?

“I was very impressed from the start when I 
applied to Homes North Armidale. They were very 

professional, caring and community-minded. 
From here, I am half way tofinishing my BA at 

UNE in Armidale. Also, the house is well kept and 
maintained to the highest standard.” 

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

Greatly 
improved

Slightly 
improved

Stayed 
the same

Slightly 
declined

Greatly 
declined

“I am very grateful to live in such a secure 
unit in a safe neighbourhood and have a 
‘landlord’ that cares about its tenants.”

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

Q Q
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Homes North Asset Services Team is responsible for maintaining 
properties, both owned and managed, to a standard that ensures 
compliance with:

• The residential Tenancies Act

• Land and Housing Asset Standards

• Australian Standards

• Building Code of Australia

• Local Council requirements

The Asset Team
• Ensure properties meet our client’s needs, such as disability 

modifications for tenants with limited mobility

• Organises planned and cyclical maintenance to the property 
portfolio

• Oversees and organises responsive maintenance to the 
property portfolio

• Assesses the ongoing viability and performance of an asset

• Manages insurance claims 

• Develops documents such as the Asbestos Register and asset 
related policy and procedures

• Ensures contractor compliance to Homes North contracts and 
WHS requirements

• Develops and acquires new freehold properties

• Selects and engages contractors to complete maintenance and 
new building works

Asset Report 
2014/2015

Development Application (DA) 
for 2-4 Stephen St Armidale
Homes North is in the process of submitting a development 
application for the construction of six units at 2-4 Stephen St 
Armidale. 

These units will be constructed with high insulation 
properties and energy efficient measures including double 
glazed windows and LED lighting.

Two of these units will be constructed to the “Platinum” 
standard detailed in the liveable design guidelines, and the 
remaining units will be constructed to the “Gold” standard. 
These prescribe the design features needed to meet the 
accessibility requirements of aged and physically disabled 
occupants. Platinum is the highest standard of accessibility.

Completion of the Minoa Court 
HASI Plus Project
The Minoa Court HASI Plus project in Tamworth is a 20 
unit complex that provides transitional housing for people 
exiting a mental health institution, or people struggling in 
the community to live with a mental illness without more 
intensive support. Tenants in the complex have access to 
24/7 support, a communal kitchen, communal activities, 
life skills training, a gym – and much more. Tenancies and 
building maintenance are managed by Homes North. 

This project is now finalised with both stage one, extensive 
renovation of the existing 20 units, and stage two, the 
construction of offices and communal areas 100% complete.

Sustainable Affordable Housing 
and Training Project 
Homes North has been in negotiations with Best Practice Constructions, 
TAFE, Joblink Plus, local members of Parliament and Local Council 
members with the aim of initiating a sustainable affordable housing and 
training project. 

The initiative is being led by Noretta Terry, the owner of Best Practice 
Constructions, and proposes the construction of environmentally 
sustainable affordable housing properties. 

The construction phase will be designed to support unemployed young 
people complete an apprenticeship and gain a trade. Joblink Plus will 
identify and support the apprentices, who will be supervised and trained 
by TAFE.

The project aims to support community members struggling with rental 
and living costs to be housed in affordable accommodation. A longer term 
aim of the project is developing pathways to home ownership.

Maintenance expenditure 2014 / 2015
Cyclic maintenance $101,305  Budget  $231,394

Disability Modifications $1,573*  Budget  $30,000

Planned maintenance $992,756   Budget $1,093,000

Responsive maintenance $1,029,133  Budget $559,328

               Total Expenditure $2,124,767 Total Budget $1,913,722 
  

*Actual of $1,573 is the balance of grants received of $11,400 and expenditure of $12,973 
Note: Responsive repairs exceeded our budget due to an increase in the number of 
vacancies and vacant restoration costs.

Asbestos Awareness Training
The Asset Team rolled out asbestos awareness training for all new staff to ensure they are aware of their obligations and the dangers in regards 
to asbestos. Asset technical staff have also completed an asbestos removal course, so that we can ensure asbestos is removed and disposed 
of by our contractors to legislated requirements.

Highlights 2014 / 2015

Tamworth, Armidale, Moree and Inverell 
Planned maintenance project  
As at 06/08/15

Tamworth
• All 65 properties due for inspection were assessed and scoped for 

upgrade works

• 63 upgrades have been completed, 2 upgrades are works in progress

Armidale
• All 18 properties due for inspection were assessed and scoped for 

upgrade works 

• 16 upgrades have been completed, 2 properties are works in progress

As part of the merger agreement with Inverell Community Housing, Homes 
North agreed to bring all 20 properties in the Inverell portfolio to FACS NSW 
Land and Housing Corporation’s (LAHC) Asset Standard.

 Inverell
• All 20 property upgrades completed and properties brought to LAHC 

standard

Moree
• All 26 property upgrades completed and properties brought to LAHC 

standard

Glen Innes and Tenterfield 
Planned maintenance project 
As at 07/10/15

Glen Innes
• 6 of 86 properties have been assessed and works scoped

• 3 scopes have been issued and are “works in progress”

• 3 upgrades have been completed

Tenterfield
• 40 of 45 properties have been scoped

• 27 scopes have been issued and are “works in progress”

• 1 upgrade has been completed

“We are very thankful for having our house painted last 
September. It meant so much for us. We have never had 
a house painted before. We were very happy with the 

service that the painters gave us. 
Thank you to Homes North for your services.”

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE

50 HNCH Annual Report 2014/2015



The audited financial statements for Homes 
North show a surplus of $1.7 million (2013-14 
surplus $17.3 million). The surplus includes:

How our properties are valued

The carrying value of all properties where title is held by Homes North 
is measured by obtaining an initial external independent valuation 
for financial statement purposes. Every property is then revalued by 
an external independent valuer once every three years. The average 
increase or decrease in independent valuations is then applied as a 
director’s valuation to the remaining property portfolio on an annual 
basis to make up the carrying value of properties.  

It is anticipated that independent valuations for these properties will 
continue to increase in line with the property market.  The Company 
has a policy of obtaining independent property valuations for every 
owned property on a rolling basis once every three years. This means 
1/3 of the portfolio is independently valued on an annual basis.  Annual 
increments/decrements are then applied as a director’s valuation to 
the remaining portfolio by location. 

Commitment to purchase 30 properties over 10 Years.

Homes North’s commitment to purchase 30 freehold properties 
over 10 years under the Housing NSW vested title agreement is well 
underway.  Over the year the Company settled on a further four 
properties, two located in Armidale and two in Tamworth and a deposit 
was put down on a block of land located in Armidale on which a six 
unit development will be built in partnership with a local developer. As 
at 30 June 2015, the company held title to 19 properties and had made 
a deposit on a block of land. It is anticipated that council approval will 
be received before December 2015 with building to commence in 
February and completion by June 2016.  

Financial Summary
Bank Loan Facility (for the purpose of meeting 
NBESP leveraged asset programme commitments)

Homes North has a $2 million loan finance facility available, 
secured by owned properties valued at $5.9 million.  This loan 
facility is fully flexible and can be drawn down and repaid.  During 
the year the loan facility was partially drawn down and then 
partially repaid leaving a balance of $250,000 at year end. The 
Armidale development is estimated to be completed in June 
2016 and will be funded from a mixture of retained earnings and 
borrowings whilst maintaining a working capital cash balance of 
$500,000.

Planned Maintenance

As at 30 June 2015 Homes North was responsible for the 
planned maintenance of 725 capital properties. Making a fixed 
annual provision of $1,500 for planned maintenance ensures that 
variations, which occur from year to year in our 25 year planned 
maintenance programme, are managed.

The accumulated reserves associated with this provision now total 
$1.1 million ($1,512 per property) as at 30 June 2015.  During the 
year actual expenditure totalled $992,756 against a provision of 
$1,056,000. 

“I am very grateful to Homes North for 
providing affordable housing and being 
prompt with repairs and maintenance. 
Thank you for providing me with a safe 

and secure place to live.”

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey

Merger with Inverell Community Housing Inc.

Homes North merged with Inverell Community Housing (ICH) on 1 
July 2014.  The financial impact on Homes North business during 
the 2014/15 financial year was a net loss of $339,186.  Under the 
terms of this merger Homes North was to maintain an office in 
Inverell and migrate tenants across to Homes North.  New leases 
with ICH tenants were signed on 1 July 2014.  Homes North 
was aware that there was a significant backlog of maintenance 
liabilities associated with these capital properties.  In an effort to 
quantify these liabilities and ensure properties were brought up 
to Housing NSW standards the attention of our Asset Team was 
focussed on scoping all Inverell and Moree capital properties 
during the first year.   At the end of the year all work had been 
scoped and most of the works were complete. 

Implementation of a new Integrated Technology 
System

In July 2014 a new finance IT system was implemented called 
Kypera.  This was the first phase of the integrated system.  The 
new Housing component of the system went live at the end of 
January 2015 and the two systems were then integrated at the 
beginning of August 2015.  It is expected that the implementation 
process will continue over the next 12 months and that Homes 
North will implement changes which will increase the capacity and 
efficiency of processes in the organisation and utilise the benefits 
of the new Integrated IT system.

$1.4 million Revaluation This increment is made up of: a 4% ($1.2 
million) increase in the valuation relating 
to the 250 (Stimulus) properties - title 
transferred in April 2011; and a 4% ($0.2 
million) increase in the valuation of Homes 
North’s 19 freehold properties where title was 
held as at 30 June 2015

$0.3 million  Underlying surplus If we exclude the effect of revaluations of 
property the surplus for the current year is 
$291,957 (2014, surplus $673,000). The current 
year surplus was also impacted negatively by 
$339,186, being the cost of the merger with 
Inverell Community Housing . Overall rental 
income has increased by 22% and tenancy, 
property and management expenses by 28%.  
Property and management costs included 
one off costs associated with the Inverell 
Community Housing merger and redundancy 
costs associated with the organisational 
review

PROVIDING EXCELLENT SERVICE
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Directors’ Report
Short and Long Term Objectives

FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

The directors of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd (“The Company”)  
present this report for the year ended 30 June 2015.
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

Mr Rex Gream 

Ms Mary Devine 

Ms Josephine Heslin 

Mr Ian Downs

Ms Margaret Hansell

Mr Malcolm McGown

Mr Johan Mouthaan 

Ms Jane Michie (appointed 16 June 2015)

The directors have all been in office since the start of the financial year unless otherwise stated.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company during the financial year was to provide secure, appropriate and affordable rental housing sensitively 
managed for people on low incomes who are disadvantaged in gaining access to or maintaining a tenancy, and or are at risk of homelessness.

The company’s short-term objectives are to:

•	 Focus on providing services to communities in the New 
England and North West of NSW

•	 Provide members of these communities who 
are limited in their capacity to access safe, 
appropriate and affordable accommodation 
with housing solutions

•	 Provide services to community members experiencing 
homelessness

•	 Provide quality housing that not only meets the 
requirements of the residential tenancies act 
and Housing NSW asset standards, but also 
meets the specific needs of our clients and 
communities

•	 Provide housing management services

The company’s long-term objectives are to:

•	 Maintain the value of the Company’s properties and the 
properties managed on behalf of Housing NSW Land and 
Housing Corporation by undertaking a comprehensive planned 
maintenance program

•	 Remain financially sustainable

•	 Continually improve our service at all levels, including adapting 
and innovating in ways that ensure we achieve positive 
outcomes for the disadvantaged in our communities

•	 Develop strong partnerships with local agencies and service 
providers to strengthen and build on a client-centred and 
community-focussed service delivery model

•	 Raise awareness of housing-related issues in the region

•	 Implement a life-cycle plan for the disposal and replacement of 
properties to ensure the portfolio value and a high standard of 
housing provision is maintained

•	 Continue to increase the supply of housing where rent is 
based on a community member’s financial capacity and not 
only on financial return

•	 Maintain a skilled Board of directors the composition of which 
is commensurate with the requirements of the business and 
good governance
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Strategies
The Company’s strategic plans outline how these stated objectives are to be met.  
The Company’s annual operational plan outlines specific activities to be undertaken in the year that will contribute to meeting the 
longer term objectives in the strategic plan.

In addition the Company’s Strategic Asset Management Plan ensures our housing portfolio aims to meet the specific needs within the 
region. The plan analyses the housing markets in New England and North West NSW and underpins decisions around acquisitions and 
disposals. It is also used to inform the 25 year planned maintenance schedule.

Report on progress against our Operational Plan 2014-2015:

2. Supporting Individuals
2.1   Providing services to specific groups 

in housing need within the region
•	 During the financial year Homes North took on the direct management of over 33 transitional 

housing properties across the New England, North West and Western NSW

•	 Participating at all levels in the implementation of key state-wide homelessness response 
reforms

•	 Launched “Rent it Keep it” program to support tenants at risk delivered on a one to one basis

•	 Developing relationships with aged care service providers to establish referral pathways, 
including holding aged care forums for tenants

•	 Supported Tenancy survey commenced to ensure specific client needs are being met.

•	 Ongoing monitoring of NDIS progress – staff have attended many workshops, forums and 
update sessions

•	 Successful in obtaining funding to upskill staff in responding to clients with a mental illness

•	 Ground-up development of shared youth housing project Tamworth

•	 First year of operations of a 24/7 supported accommodation project for tenants with a severe 
mental illness. The project is successfully transitioning clients out of institutional care

3. Providing Excellent Service
Homes North will continue to be recognised by our tenants and peer organisations for the quality of service we provide

3.1 Develop and implement a revitalised 
tenant participation structure

•	 Two new part-time positions created specifically to focus on tenant relations

•	 A range of tenant consultations took place across the region 

•	 Several tenant groups formed and convening meetings

•	 Feedback from tenant participation activities is directly improving service delivery

•	 Since commencing in their roles in May 2015 the tenant participation officers have engaged 
with over 36% of our tenants

3.2  Develop and sustain a culture 
of operational excellence by 
transitioning the operations of the 
organisation out of a period of rapid 
growth and consolidation to one of 
continual improvement

•	 Procurement and implementation of new sector specific integrated housing, finance and 
asset software. The software has significant capacity to improve business efficiency and 
improve services to clients

•	 Completed an organisation-wide review focussed on improving front line service delivery

•	 Initiated re-branding strategy

3.3 Develop a consistent culture of 
service excellence and continual 
improvement

•	 New position of Service Development Officer created to oversee continual service 
improvement

•	 Supported staff to obtain professional qualifications in social housing and corporate 
governance

•	 Phase one of training programme on good communication for service excellence completed

•	 Identified as a pilot for the first Community Housing National Regulation compliance round 
and successfully deemed compliant

•	 Asset Maintenance Plan 2015/16 fully implemented, including bringing Inverell and Moree 
housing stock to asset standard as per merger agreement

•	 Conducted the annual tenant satisfaction survey

•	 CEO undertook a study tour of the UK and identified best practices and innovative initiatives 
for adaption and adoption

3.4 Maintain a consistent performance 
culture across all sections and 
locations

•	 Developed and implemented a staff charter

•	 Implemented new software that has a greater capacity to report on a range of key 
performance areas across a range of parameters

•	 Joined “Housing Keys” – a performance benchmarking tool specific to the community 
housing sector

•	 HR consultant engaged to ensure any performance challenges are addressed appropriately

FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

Strategy 2013-2016:

1. Strengthening Communities
Homes North will provide leadership in New England and North West NSW on social and affordable housing issues, acting as the region’s 
leading community anchor

Strategic objective Operational activities undertaken 2014-2015

 1.1   Raise the profile of the role and 
potential of community housing and 
Homes North in the region

•	 Considerable media exposure through several radio interviews, newspaper commentary 
and published positive client stories throughout the year that highlighted the importance of 
housing to the community

•	 Homes North staff at all levels participated in, and some cases led, key community forums 
across the New England and North West that aim to improve services to disadvantaged 
community members

•	 Positive relationship building with Armidale Dumaresq Council through development 
application process for new housing development

•	 Meetings with Tamworth and Armidale Dumaresq Councils have developed positive 
relationships with councillors

•	 Initial meetings with NSW Business Chamber and Boystown to progress Jobs Road initiative – 
training and employment strategy for community housing residents.

•	 Presentations at housing-related conferences

•	 Called to present at the NSW inquiry into social and affordable housing

•	 Submitted a paper to the Public Accounts Committee inquiry into the cost of social housing

•	 EOI submitted to the Premier’s Innovation Imitative for social housing

1.2   Initiating projects and events that 
connect services to clients along the 
housing continuum

•	 Extensive resources utilised to develop constructive partnerships with specialist 
homelessness services

•	 Participating in regional operational forums focussed on services to homeless clients

•	 Development of a shared equity housing product underway

•	 New affordable housing development in Armidale

•	 Service level agreements with refuge services in the region being negotiated. These 
agreements are developing stronger links across the housing continuum for the benefit of 
services users.
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3.5 Professionalise the image of the 
service

•	 Commenced re-branding project

3.6 Integrate asset services into admin/
finance and housing management

•	 Our Strategic Asset Management plan was reviewed and updated

•	 An asbestos management plan was completed for the portfolio

•	 New integrated software ensures integration of asset, housing and finance data and allows 
for greater analysis and monitoring

3.7 Meet Nation Building acquisition 
targets for 2015-16

•	 As at 30 June 2015, 19 properties have been acquired under the programme, with our target 
being 20 properties

•	 The Stephen St development of 6 units will place Homes North well in excess of the target for 
the next financial year. The target for 2015/16 is 21 properties; the Stephen St development 
will bring the acquisition total to 25 properties

3.8 Ensure corporate governance 
activities are appropriate for the 
nature and size of the business as it 
grows and develops

Maintain a robust system of 
governance

•	 Board skills audit completed

•	 Audit and Risk Committee performance and charter reviewed. 

•	 Directors participated in a facilitated Board retreat which included a review of Board 
performance.

•	 Board charter reviewed

•	 Director’s personal development plans were reviewed

•	 A budget for relevant personal development was allocated for each director

•	 6 directors attended the Better Boards conference

•	 New Risk Management Committee was formed and met quarterly to review the risk register

•	 Chairperson joined the Australian Institute of Company Directors

•	 Manager Business Services undertaking professional studies in Corporate Governance

3.9 Working in partnership with the 
Housing Alliance to build the 
resilience and independence of 
Homes North

•	 Commenced a ground-breaking project to measure the social impact of community housing 
activities

•	 Held the annual forum to set the strategic direction for the Housing Alliance

•	 Continued a range of collaborative activities to enhance the operations of members

•	 Submitted a response to the social housing discussion paper

Key Performance Indicators
The Company measures its performance through the use of quantitative and qualitative benchmarks. The benchmarks are used by the directors 
to assess the financial sustainability of the company and whether the company’s short and long term objectives are being achieved.

 2015 2014

Tenancy Management Actual Benchmark Actual Benchmark

Rent arrears 3.3% 4.0% 3.9% 4.0%

Customer satisfaction rating 
(Registrar min benchmark 75%)

89% 85% 93% 85%

Supported tenancies as a % of all 
tenancies

17% 18% 16% 18%

Complaints to be managed within 
reasonable timeframe
(Note: Benchmark changed from 28 working 
days to 28 days in 2014)

25 days 28 days
31  

working days
28 

working days

Vacant tenantable 26 days 14 days 26 days    14 days

*Vacant un-tenantable 48 days 28 days 32 days    28 days

*Vacant un-tenantable relates to void properties that require significant capital upgrade works to be completed before they  can be re-tenanted.
  Note: Registrar minimum benchmark is 21 days for vacants and voids combined.

FINANCIAL STATEM
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3. Providing Excellent Service (continued)

Significant factors affecting performance
On 1 July 2014 all the assets and liabilities of Inverell Community housing were transferred to Homes North.  This resulted in a transfer of net assets of 
negative $339,185.  Also during the financial year, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase a block of land located in Armidale, subject 
to lodgement of a Development Application (“DA”) with Council. As at 30 June 2015, this land purchase had not been settled.  It is anticipated that 
the DA will be lodged and title will be exchanged by December 2015 and 6 units will be built on the site in partnership with a local building company 
by June 2016.   This will bring the total number of properties purchased to 25 by June 2016 under the leveraged asset agreement with Housing NSW 
to increase supply. These acquisitions have been funded by a combination of accumulated cash equity reserves, and net income received from the 
250 NBESP properties managed under the Housing NSW Vested Asset Title transfer program. The Company has full entitlement to the rental income 
stream from these properties which will also resource ongoing management and maintenance of the assets as well as contribute to leverage funding 
of future acquisitions. One third of the 250 NBESP vested properties were re-valued this financial year based on independent valuations and the 
increments applied across the rest of the portfolio in each location.  The 250 vested properties received under the NBESP have a fair value of $33 
million.    In addition Homes North owns 19 freehold properties with a fair value of $5.8 million.

Operational and financial
($) ($) ($) ($)

Expenditure on repairs & maintenance does not exceed budget average 
per property

*1,396 700 755 700

Planned and Cyclical maintenance does not exceed budget average per 
property

1,412 1,500 1,509 1,500

% of Capital properties at Housing NSW Asset Standards 99% 70% 98.5% 70%

*Repairs and maintenance relates to urgent repairs and maintenance and tenant damage that has not been repaid.  When Homes North merged with 
Inverell Community Housing Inc additional repairs and maintenance liabilities were incurred (Refer note 23 for further details).   Under the merger 
agreement these works were to be completed in 2014-2015 to ensure the properties met Land and Housing Corporation standards.  

Planned maintenance relates to replacement of items after fair wear and tear such as kitchens, bathrooms, stoves, hot water services etc. Cyclical 
maintenance includes regular items such as annual smoke alarm, hot water thermostat testing and pest inspections.

Operating result and review of operations
The total comprehensive income for the year was $1,739,771 (2014 surplus $17,348,167).  The Company is exempt from income tax. 

The operating result for Homes North also includes a revaluation increment of $1,447,814. This relates to 250 (NBESP) which previously vested in 
Homes North from Housing NSW ($1,242,435) and 19 freehold properties where title was held as at 30 June 2015 ($205,379).  
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In the next financial year the Company intends to continue with the following 
projects or tenders:
To purchase an additional 6 Freehold properties as part of the Housing NSW vested asset agreement.  This will require the Company to 
undertake further borrowings. Consequently in future years the Company will adopt a financial risk management framework to manage the 
specific risks associated with acquisitions and borrowings.

Over the next 10 years it is anticipated that the Company will continue to contribute to increasing the supply of affordable housing. Under the 
Title transfer programme and the Community Housing Assistance Agreement – Capital Properties – Vested, the Company has committed to 
purchase and/or develop additional housing stock (minimum 30 properties) for use as social and affordable housing. It is anticipated that this 
will be funded by a combination of retained earnings and leveraging.

The principle activity of the Company will remain that of a community housing provider.

Auditor’s independence
The auditor’s declaration of independence appears on page 64 and forms part of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Signed in accordance with the resolution of directors. 

Josephine Heslin (Chair) 

Dated this 8th day of October 2015

Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, 11 meetings of directors were held and 4 Audit and Risk Board Subcommittee meetings were 
held. Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:

Directors’ Meetings Audit and Risk Board Sub-Committee
Number Attended Eligible to Attend Number Attended Eligible to Attend

Rex Gream 11 11 2 2
Mary Devine 9 10 N/A N/A
Josephine Heslin 9 11 N/A N/A
Ian Downs 10 11 4 4
Margaret Hansell 11 11 4 4
Malcolm McGown 11 11 N/A N/A
Johan Mouthaan 9 11 2 2
Jane Michie 0 1 N/A N/A

FINANCIAL STATEM
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Information on Directors 
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

Corporate Information & Members’ 
Guarantee
The Company is a ‘not for profit’ entity, registered as a company limited 
by guarantee under the Australian Charities and Not for Profit Commission 
(“ACNC”) and Australian Securities and Investment Commission (“ASIC”). It 
does not issue shares to its members. Under its constitution the Company 
does not have the capacity to issue dividends to its members. Any 
surplus on winding up is to be distributed to an organisation with similar 
objects as dictated by the Constitution. If the Company is wound up, the 
Constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum 
of $1 each towards any outstanding obligations of the Company. At 30 
June 2015 the number of members was 13 (2014—11 members).

Corporate Governance
The Company, although it has no legal obligation to do so, endorses 
the Corporate Governance principles and recommendations published 
by the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Council.  

An Audit and Risk Board Sub-committee is responsible for assisting the 
board of directors to fulfil their oversight responsibilities relating to: 
financial reporting process; system of internal control; system of  risk 
management; internal audit processes; external audit processes; Chief 
Executive Officer remuneration including establishment and monitoring 
of Key Performance Indicators; establishment of company processes 
to monitor compliance with external laws and regulations; and monitor 
codes of conduct.

 Margaret Hansell Director: Appointed 10 October 2011
 Current position: Consultant, Insurance and Risk Management, Partner Bindawalla B&B: Bindawalla Beef Production
 Qualifications: Graduate Certificate of Management (University of New England) Bachelor of Commerce (University of New 

England), Fellow, Australian & New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance (ANZIIF), Certificate IV Workplace 
Assessment and Training

 Experience: Various roles with Allianz, GIO and Marsh Insurance and Risk Management
 Special Responsibilities: Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee

 Ian Downs Director: Appointed 1 February 2010
 Current position: Education Consultant Director New England Girls School Armidale, Director of NSW Federation of Housing 

Associations, Secretary - Tillgerry Lions Club
 Qualifications:  Bachelor of Arts - Sydney University. Diploma of Education - Sydney University; M.Ed. (Hons) University of New 

England
 Experience: Principal Farrer Memorial Agricultural High School Tamworth, and New England Girls School, - Armidale, Director 

of Boarding - The King’s School Parramatta, Chairman of Glen Innes Hospital Board.
 Special Responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

 Jane Michie Director: Appointed 16 June 2015
 Current position: Research Support Officer, UNE
 Qualifications: Master of Business Administration (Professional Accounting) - University of New England; Bachelor of Arts - 

Newcastle University; Diploma of Government (Management) - Australian Institute of Management
 Experience: Over 20 years’ experience in management and finance in the medical, financial services, community services 

and local government sectors.
 Mary Devine Director: Appointed 18 September 2002 – Resigned 14 May 2015, 
 Current position: Regional Transport Coordinator, Transport NSW
 Qualifications: Bachelor of Social Work, Associate Diploma Welfare Worker

 Rex Gream Chair (July 14 – April 15) Appointed 11 April 2008
 Current position: Administrative Manager – Roberts & Morrow Financial Planning Experience: 

Financial Services. Over 35 years in the banking and finance industry
  Special Responsibilities: 

Alternate Member of the Audit and Risk Committee
 Josephine Heslin Chair: (May 15 – June 15) Appointed 15 February 2012
 Current position: Manager & Coordinator, Aged & Disability Sector
 Experience: Previously: Project Manager, Ageing & Disability Sector, 

Manager Independent Living Retirement Village, Mortgage advisor; and Business owner
 Special Responsibilities: Employee Liaison Officer

 Malcolm McGown Director: Appointed 24 November 2008
 Experience: Extensive small business experience
 Qualifications: Diploma in Agriculture (Hons), Real Estate Practice Certificate
 Special Responsibilities: Company Secretary—appointed November 2009
 Mary Devine Director: Appointed 18 September 2002 – Resigned 14 May 2015
 Current position: Regional Transport Coordinator, Transport NSW
 Qualifications: Bachelor of Social Work, Associate Diploma Welfare Worker

 Johan (Hans) Mouthaan Director: Appointed 19 May 2014
 Current position: Retired
 Qualifications: Trade and Building Certificate
 Experience: Extensive project home Management
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Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income
For the Year ended 30 June 2015

Note
2015

($)
2014

($)

Revenue 2 9,434,004 7,718,703

Fair value gains/(losses) on revaluation of land and 
buildings

a) Refer note  
below

1,447,814
1,159,343

Transfer of net assets/liabilities on merger 23 (339,186) Nil

Tenancy and property management expenses (5,691,464) (4,462,174)

Employee Benefits expense (2,285,130) (1,965,592)

Depreciation and Amortisation (87,802) (62,991)

Doubtful Debts movement in provision (76,278) 13,093

Vehicle Running expense (51,051) (38,295)

Fuel, light, and power expense (20,714) (23,983)

Rental expense on Operating Lease (129,598) (121,976)

Training expense (90,389) (83,841)

Audit, Legal and consultancy expense (37,685) (85,614)

Administration expense (303,225) (198,373)

Interest expense (19,254)    (4,828)

Other Expense (10,271) (11,253)

Profit for the year 1,739,771 1,832,218

Other Comprehensive income

Fair value of Properties (NBESP) vested  under leveraged 
asset agreement

Nil 15,515,949

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,739,771 17,348,167

Notes
a) All properties where title was transferred under the vested asset National Building Economic Stimulus 

program were independently re-valued in June 2013.  One third of these properties in each location were 
then independently valued again in June 2014 and again in June 2015.  This revaluation was then applied to 
the remainder of the portfolio by director’s valuation.  This revaluation represents the difference between the 
independent valuation in June 2013 or June 2014 and the rolling revaluation in June 2015.  This revaluation has 
been booked through profit and loss in compliance with accepted adopted accounting standards.

The statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes

FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

Homes North Community Housing Company Limited  ABN 78 014 531 758 

12    Directors' Report –Cont. 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Crowe Horwath Central North is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and independent legal 
entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Retained Earnings

($)

Planned Maintenance 
reserve

($)

Total

($)

Balance at 30 June 2013 18,471,467 1,043,297 19,514,764

Transfers 18,317,918 (979,571) 17,338,347

Surplus/(deficit) (969,751) 969,751 Nil

Balance at 30 June 2014 35,819,634 1,033,477 36,853,111

Transfers 2,795,772 (992,756) 1,803,015

Surplus/(deficit) (1,056,000) 1,056,000 Nil

Balance at 30 June 2015 37,559,406 1,096,720 38,656,126

The statement of changes in funds is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes

Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2015

Note
2015

($)
2014

($)

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 627,697 1,223,870

Trade and other receivables 4 319,628 187,273

Total current assets 947,325 1,411,143

Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 344,949 397,102

Intangible assets 6 89,855 Nil

Investment Property 7 5,865,711 4,550,353

Investment Property—restricted 7 32,963,477 31,721,043

Total non-current assets 39,263,993 36,668,498

Total Assets 40,211,318 38,079,641

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 519,423 466,127

Borrowings 9 257,600 4,431

Provision – Employee Benefits 10 286,731 254,119

Other liabilities 11 392,023 411,246

Total current liabilities 1,455,777 1,135,923

Non-current liabilities

Provision - Employee Benefits 10 99,415 90,607

Total non-current liabilities 99,415 90,607

Total Liabilities 1,555,192 1,226,530

Net Assets 38,656,126 36,853,111

Funds

Retained Earnings 37,559,406 35,819,634

Reserves 12 1,096,720 1,033,477

Total Funds 38,656,126 36,853,111

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes
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Statement of changes in Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Note    2015

    ($)

2014

($)

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from rental income 7,967,451 6,582,019

Cash receipts from grants and other income 1,239,571 1,092,102

Interest received 14,258 33,594

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (8,819,977) (6,478,412)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 14 401,303 1,229,303

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of  property, plant and equipment 4,091 12,278

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (125,504) (187,977)

Purchase of investment property (1,109,979) (2,301,571)

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities (1,231,392) (2,477,270)

Cash flows from financing activities 683,915 300,000

Repayment of borrowings (450,000) (300,000)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 233,915 Nil

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (596,174) (1,247,967)

 Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 1,223,870 2,471,837

 Cash and Cash equivalents at end of financial year 4 627,697 1,223,870

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes

Corporate Information
The Financial Statements of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd (“the Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2015 were 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 8th October 2015.

The financial statements cover the Company as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Company is a company 
limited by guarantee.

1. Summary of accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
Homes North Community Housing Company Limited applies Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements as set out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010–2: Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), the 
Corporations Act 2001, and Australian Charities and Not for Profit Commission (“ACNC”). The company is a not-for-profit entity 
for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial statements 
containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets 
and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

Historical cost Convention

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost except where stated otherwise. 

Currency

The Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars.

(b)  Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Financial Statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other various factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain 
assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

Impairment of assets

The Company assesses the impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company that may lead 
to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use 
calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. In assessing recoverable 
amounts the directors have applied the specific sections of the standards applicable to not-for-profit entities in Australia.

FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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(c) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when the Company is legally entitled to the income and the amount can be quantified with reasonable 
accuracy. Revenues are recognised net of the amounts of goods and services tax (GST) payable to the Australian Taxation Office.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on an accruals basis as rent falls due.

Tenancy management services (Fee for Service Income)

Tenancy management services revenue is recognised on an accruals basis in line with service provision. The fee for service 
income received is the only revenue recognised. At balance date, any other monies on hand in relation to a specific fee for 
service provision are held in trust and classified as a liability.

Government grant funding (includes both ongoing grants and one-off capital grants)

Unconditional government grants are recognised in the profit or loss as other income when the grant becomes receivable.

Other Grants received are initially recognised as a deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that they 
will be received and that the company will comply with the conditions associated with the Grant. Revenue is then recognised in 
the profit and loss on a systematic basis as services are performed and expenses are incurred or conditions are fulfilled.

Interest income

Investment income comprises interest. Interest income is recognised as it accrues.

Other income

Non-operating, other income is recognised as revenue when received.

(d) Expenditure
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs related to 
the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to a particular category they have been allocated to activities on a basis 
consistent with use of the resources.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of any outstanding bank overdrafts.

(f) Monies held in trust
The Company provides other corporations with a fee for service property and/or tenancy management service for which a 
management service fee is charged. To the extent that rent is held over at balance date it is recorded in the monies held in 
trust—liability account on the statement of financial position.

(g) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which comprise amounts due from the provision of services provided to tenants, are recognised and carried 
at original invoice amount less any allowance for uncollectable amounts.

An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect the debts. 
Bad debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off.

(h) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment and buildings are depreciated over their useful lives to the Company commencing from 
the time the asset is held ready for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful economic lives 
of the assets as follows:

Asset class Depreciation rate

Leasehold improvements 6 - 40 years 

Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 3 - 5 years 

Computer equipment and software 1-5 years

Plant and Equipment
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the recoverable amount 
being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The recoverable 
amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Depreciated replacement cost is 
used to determine value in use. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an item of plant and equipment 
less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation to date, calculated on the basis of such cost.

(i) Investment Property
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the 
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods and services or for administrative purposes. Investment 
property is measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change recognised through the Profit 
and Loss.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-constructed 
investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the 
investment property to a working condition for its intended use, and capitalised borrowing costs.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and 
the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit and loss. When an investment property that was previously classified as 
property, plant and equipment is sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

All Homes North owned properties were reclassified as Investment Property effective 1 July 2012 as it was determined that the 
use of the properties had changed.  Should the use of a property change again such that it is reclassified as property, plant and 
equipment its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

The rationale for reclassification of property, initially recognized as Property Plant and equipment (“PP&E”)AASB 116, as 
investment property under the investment property standard AASB 140 follows. 

The term investment property is an accounting term and is not to be interpreted as a literal true investment.

One of the key goals of the vesting agreement with Housing NSW is to build a portfolio of assets to leverage additional finance 
for further investment in social and affordable housing. It was determined that this key goal changed the overall underlying use 
of the housing properties. 

The initial use of the properties was: 

“to provide affordable, secure and appropriate housing across the country to individuals and families on low to 
moderate incomes and to those people who face difficulty in securing affordable accommodation through the 
private rental market.”
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Under this use the properties were property recorded as PP&E under AASB 116.6 and AASB 140 Aus 9.1.

The change in use occurred upon enactment of the Housing NSW Vested assets agreement which extended the primary use of 
the property portfolio to:

• Increase the supply of affordable and social housing;

• Allow strategic management of assets to better meet the future housing demand;

• To provide a secure asset base to leverage additional finance for investment in social and affordable housing.

The extension of the primary use of the property portfolio shows that the objective of ownership is for capital appreciation and 
future investment in community housing property. The rental of those properties to low income earners furthers this objective 
and is not only for the purpose of providing a social service but to increase the supply through further investment.  Therefore it 
is considered that AASB 140 AUS 9.1 does not apply to Homes North for the purpose of these transactions and that there was a 
change in use of the property portfolio at that time.

Further detailed disclosures regarding the application of this policy are contained in the notes to the financial statements.

Fair value
Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value based on periodic, but at least triennial valuation by external 
independent valuers.

In periods when the freehold land and buildings are not subject to an independent valuation the directors conduct a directors’ 
valuations to ensure the carrying amount of the land and buildings is not materially different to fair value.  

Fair values are based on the market values. Market value is defined as being the estimated amount for which a property could 
be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after 
property marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably and willingly.

(j) Leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, 
are capitalised at inception of the lease at fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments.  Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as an expense in 
the statement of comprehensive income. The fair value of the leases is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, 
discounted at market interest rates. The carrying value of the leases is considered a reasonable reflection of fair value.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset.

(k) Trade creditors and other payables
Trade payables and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid. These amounts are usually settled in 30 days. The notional amount of the creditors and payables 
is deemed to reflect fair value.

(l) Unspent project funds
The liability for unspent Government grants is the unutilised amounts of funding received on the condition that specific 
conditions are fulfilled. It is anticipated that the conditions will be fulfilled within twelve months of balance date. Accordingly the 
amounts have not been discounted.

(m)  Income received in advance
The liability for income received in advance consists of tied project funding received in the current or previous financial year 
relating to services to be provided in a future financial year.

(n) Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are benefits 
(other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee 
benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.

The company’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and personal leave are recognised as a part 
of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.  

Other long-term employee benefits
The company classifies employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements as other long-term employee benefits as 
they are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service. Provision is made for the company’s obligation for other long-term employee benefits, which are 
measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate 
anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined 
by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate 
the terms of the obligations. Upon the re-measurement of obligations for other long-term employee benefits, the net change in 
the obligation is recognised in profit or loss classified under employee benefits expense.
The company’s obligations for long-term employee entitlements are presented as non-current liabilities in its statement of 
financial position, except where the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current liabilities.  

Retirement benefit obligations - Defined contribution superannuation entitlements
All employees of the company receive defined contribution superannuation entitlements, for which the company pays the 
fixed superannuation guarantee contribution (currently 9.5% of the employee’s average ordinary salary) to the employee’s 
superannuation fund of choice. All contributions in respect of employees’ defined contribution entitlements are recognised as an 
expense when they become payable. The company’s obligation with respect to employees’ defined contribution entitlements is 
limited to its obligation for any unpaid superannuation guarantee contributions at the end of the reporting period. All obligations 
for unpaid superannuation guarantee contributions are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the 
obligation is settled and are presented as current liabilities in the company’s statement of financial position.  

(o) Income tax
The Company has been classified as a Public Benevolent Institution for the purposes of Australian taxation legislation and 
is therefore exempt from income tax, and holds deductible gift recipient status.  This exemption has been confirmed by the 
Australian Taxation Office.

(p) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office, in which case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as 
part of an item of expense.

Receivables and payables are recognised inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the Australian 
Taxation Office is included as part of receivables or payables. Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross 
basis.

The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from or payable to the 
Australian Taxation Office is classified as operating cash flows.

(q) Comparative figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the 
current financial year.

(r) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge and 
best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends 
and economic data, obtained both externally and within the company.
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Key estimates
Valuation of freehold land and buildings

The freehold land and buildings were independently valued at 30 June 2015 by MVS National Valuations and Property Consulting 
(Armidale and Tamworth). The valuations were based on the fair value less cost to sell. The critical assumptions adopted in 
determining the valuations included the location of the land and buildings, the current strong demand for land and buildings in the 
area and recent sales data for similar properties. The valuation resulted in a revaluation increment of $1,447,814 being recognised 
in the profit and loss for the year ended 30 June 2015.

At 30 June 2015, the directors performed a directors’ valuation on the freehold land and buildings that were not independently 
valued. The directors have reviewed the key assumptions adopted by the valuer in 2015 and believe that changes in each location 
can be extrapolated over the remaining portfolio in that area.  On this basis the directors believe the carrying amount of the land 
and buildings correctly reflects the fair value less costs to sell at 30 June 2015.

Key judgements
Employee benefits

For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) defines obligations for short-term employee 
benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related services. As the company expects that most employees will not use all of their annual leave 
entitlements in the same year in which they are earned or during the 12-month period that follows (despite an informal company 
policy that requires annual leave to be used within 18 months), the directors believe that obligations for annual leave entitlements 
satisfy the definition of other long-term employee benefits and, therefore, are required to be measured at the present value of the 
expected future payments to be made to employees.

(s) New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted
 The company has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

(t) Intangibles
 Software

 Software is recognised at cost of acquisition. Software has finite life and is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any impairment losses. Software is amortised over its useful life of 2 - 3 years.  The current amortisation charges for intangible 
assets are included under depreciation expense per the income statement.

2. Revenue and other income
2015

($)
2014

($)

Revenue from:
Rental Income

Leasehold - rent 1,701,367 1,085,771

NBESP Property Transfer program - rent 1,957,532 1,934,130

Owned—Homes North Owned Housing—rent 273,699 152,273

Capital Transitional - rent 297,828 68,197

Housing NSW Affordable Housing - rent 249,102 228,162

Capital properties - rent 3,613,258 3,108,144

Other rental income 7,020 14,360

Total Rental income 8,099,806 6,591,037

Government funding 1,172,436 768,172

Tenancy management – fee for service 126,500 220,132

Capital Grants 11,400 683

Interest income 14,258 38,408

Other revenue 5,513 100,272

Profit/Loss on sale of fixed assets 4,091 Nil 

Total Revenue 9,434,004 7,718,703

3. Cash and cash equivalents
2015

($)
2014

($)
Tamworth account 2,542 1,408

Glen Innes account 480 655

Inverell account 45,137 Nil

Gunnedah account 527 209

Cash management accounts 568,360 1,068,214

Monies held in trust (Refer Note 10) 1,681 152,334

Cash clearing accounts 7,720 Nil

Petty cash and floats 1,250 1,050

627,697 1,223,870

(a) All accounts carry normal terms and conditions and are reviewed by the directors on a regular basis to maximise income from interest. 
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4. Trade and other receivables
2015

($)
2014

($)
Rental and trade debtors 590,443 391,657

Unaccounted Cash receipts (2523) (130)

Prepayments 18,617 1,396

Security deposits 12,157 10,334

GST receivable 54,829 29,793

Less: provision for impairment (353,895) (245,777)

319,628 187,273

No specific collection issues have been identified. 

5. Property, plant and equipment
2015

($)
2014

($)
Leasehold improvements - at cost 221,442 223,184

Less: accumulated depreciation (38,872) (33,462)

182,570 189,722

Motor Vehicles - at cost 177,170 139,798
Less: accumulated depreciation (79,311) (78,767)

97,859 61,031

Office equipment - at cost 231,827 270,380

Less: accumulated depreciation (167,306) (124,031)

64,521 146,349

344,949 397,102

(a) Movements in carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and end of the current financial year.

Leasehold 
improvements

($)

Motor 
Vehicles 

($)

Office 
Equipment 

($)

Total

($)

Carrying Amount at 1 July 2014 189,722 61,031 146,349 397,102

  Transfer software to intangibles (73,691) (73,691)

  Additions 1,827 77,581 28,898 108,306

  Less: Disposals Nil (20,000) Nil (20,000)

  Less: Depreciation (8,980) (20,753) (37,035) (66,768)

  Add Profit on sale 0

Carrying amount at 30 June 2015 182,569 97,859 64,521 344,949

6. Intangibles
Intangibles - Software - at cost 117,458 Nil
Less: accumulated depreciation (27,603) Nil

 89,855 Nil

(a) Movements in carrying amounts for each class of property, intangibles between the beginning and end of the current financial year.  

Software

($)

Carrying Amount at 1 July 2014 Nil

  Transfer opening balance of software from office equipment 73,691

  Additions 37,198

  Less: Disposals Nil

  Less: Depreciation (21,034)

  Add Profit on sale 0

Carrying amount at 30 June 2015 89,855
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7. Investment Property
 H N Owned  H N Owned Received under Total 
 WIP Properties NBESP
   - Restricted-
 ($) ($) ($) ($)

Balance at 1 July 2014 Nil 4,550,353 31,721,043 36,271,396

Purchased 18,485 1,091,494 Nil 1,109,979

Change in Fair Value—based on June 15 Indep Valuation Nil 205,379 1,242,435 1,447,814

Balance at 30 June 2015 18,485 5,847,226 32,963,477 38,829,188

  Asset Revaluations
The company obtains independent valuations of its investment property portfolio on a triennial basis and at the end of each 
reporting period the financial statements reflect the most up to date valuation.  The best evidence of fair value is considered to 
be the current price in an active market for similar assets.  The following information is used where necessary: current prices in an 
active market for different types of properties or similar property’s in a less active market.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent qualified valuers on a triennial basis who have experience in 
the location of the property.  On an annual basis the directors review the valuation reports and extrapolate these valuations across 
the remaining portfolio taking into account fluctuations influenced by location.

As at 30 June 2015 the valuation of the investment property portfolio was performed by MVS National Valuations and Property 
Consulting (Armidale/Tamworth).   The directors then performed a directors valuation on the remaining two thirds of NBESP 
restricted land and buildings.  The directors have reviewed the key assumptions adopted by the valuers in 2015 and believe that the 
average increment in each location can be applied across the remaining portfolio.  This valuation process resulted in a revaluation 
increment of $1,447,814 being recognised in the revaluation surplus for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Refer to Note 20 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s land and buildings. 

Properties received under Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan
Homes North became entitled to 250 dwellings under Stage 2 of the NSW Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan “NBESP”. The 
title to 122 of these units (first instalment) vested to Homes North in April 2011.  The second instalment, 128 units vested to Homes 
North in January 2014. The first instalment of these properties was initially classified as Property Plant and Equipment. In July 2013 
the Board reclassified these properties under the AASB 140 Investment Property accounting standard.  This reclassification aligned 
the use of the portfolio of all existing properties to the Company’s long term strategy. Properties vested under the NBESP agreement 
are determined to be restricted investment properties as Homes North are required to:

o Deliver property and management services to clients eligible for public housing, including people with high-level housing 
needs; and

o Allocate the accommodation to particular client groups in accordance with specified target quotas; and
o Use the properties to leverage financial resources in partnership with private sector institutions; and
o Use those resources to create additional affordable housing targeted towards low to moderate income households 

experiencing housing stress.

Recognition in Statement of Financial Position
Homes North has recognised the properties received under the NBESP grant as investment properties in its statement of financial 
position. In line with the company’s strategic purposes these properties will be used for earning rental income and for capital 
appreciation purposes. This will maximise the company’s ability to reinvest future economic benefits flowing from these properties 
back into social and affordable housing. The agreement requires that these properties be used to leverage financial resources in 
partnership with private sector institutions to support future growth of the social housing sector.

Restriction on Assets
All properties received under the NBESP grant are classified as restricted assets because they can only be used for social housing 
purposes (per the tender guidelines of NBESP which governs the use of these properties by social housing providers.).  Should 
these properties be sold proceeds from the sale of these properties must be re-invested back into properties used for social 
housing purposes.  To ensure this intention is honoured there is a caveat on each of the titles requiring permission from Housing 
NSW before a sale can take place.

Repairs and Maintenance Obligations—Impairment
Homes North is required to set aside sufficient resources to meet scheduled repairs and maintenance obligations. Accordingly, 
$1,500 (2014 $1,500) per property is set aside each year and charged to the statement of profit and loss. The balance is carried 
forward as a restricted planned maintenance equity reserve and actual planned maintenance repairs are charged to the reserve. 
This ensures that Homes North has capacity to meet the cost of significant capital upgrades and maintenance when required, and 
maintains buildings at or above the required asset standard.

8. Trade and other payables

 2015 2014
Current ($) ($)

Trade creditors 401,080 235,150

Accrued expenses 118,343 230,977

 519,423 466,127

9. Borrowings
 2015 2014
Current ($) ($)

Credit Card Facility 7,600 4,431

Loan Facility 250,000 Nil

 257,600 4,431

 
Trade Creditors: There is a credit card facility with a limit of $25,000 (with unused facility of $17,400) at 30 June 2015.  In addition the 
Company has a $1 million loan facility.  This facility has an initial limit of $1million with in principle approval to increase this limit to $2 
million.  The loan facility is secured by a general fixed and floating charge over the company’s assets and first mortgages over Homes North 
owned properties. 
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10. Employee Benefits—Provisions
2015 2014

($) ($)

(a) Current
Employee Benefits - Annual Leave 286,731 254,119

(b) Non Current
Employee Benefits - Long Service Leave

99,415 90,607

386,146 344,726

  Provision employee benefits
Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.
The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts accrued 
for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of service. Based 
on past experience, the company does not expect the full amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as 
current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the 
company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their 
leave entitlement.

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not yet vested in 
relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service.
In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being 
taken is based upon historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits are discussed in Note 1(n).

11. Other Liabilites
 2015 2014
 ($) ($)

Monies held in trust (1,681) 152,334

Bonds held for tenants 11,484 4,392

Provision for unclaimed monies 2,542 2,542

Tenant rent in advance 310,918 183,218

Unearned income 68,760 68,760

 392,023 411,246

12. Total funds
Details of the movement in each reserve and fund are provided in the Statement of Changes in equity.

General Fund
The general reserve represents the funds of the Company that are not designed for particular purposes.

Planned maintenance reserve
$1,096,720 has been set aside in a planned maintenance reserve fund to meet the commitments of the Company’s asset 
maintenance plan. The Company must meet the planned maintenance obligations of 703 capital properties (2014, 649).

13. Members’ guarantee
The Company is limited by guarantee. In the event of the Company being wound up, the constitution requires members to make 
a maximum contribution of $1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the Company. At 30 June 2015 the number 
of members was 13 (2014 was 11 members).

14. Cash flow information
Reconciliation of net surplus for the year to net cash flows from operations:
 2015 2014

 ($) ($)

Result after income tax 1,739,772 17,348,166

Non cash flows

Depreciation 87,801 62,993

Increase/(decrease) in provision for planned maintenance over actual 63,243 (9,820)

Profit/Loss on sale of fixed assets (4,091) (2,150)

Revaluation of Properties (1,447,814) (1,159,343)

NBESP properties recognised on transfer of title Nil (15,515,949) 

Provision for doubtful debts 76,278 (13,093)

Changes in Assets and Liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 148,763 141,845

Increase/(decrease) in monies held in trust (154,015) 134,747

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 99,999 245,920

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (208,633) (4,013)

 401,303 1,229,303
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15. Capital and Leasing Commitments
(a) Operating Leases Commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in the financial statements 

 2015 2014
 ($) ($)

Payable—minimum lease payments  

Not later than 12 months 89,330 80,813

Later than 12 month but not later than five years 158,280 181,221

Later than 5 years Nil Nil

 247,610 262,034

The property lease commitments are non-cancellable operating leases on 5 offices contracted for but not capitalised in 
the financial statements, with increases in rent either in line with the Consumer Price Index or 4% whichever is greater. The 
lease commitments on 4 photocopiers are non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial 
statements, with fixed monthly repayments over 4 years.

16. Contingent liabilities and capital commitments
(a) Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2015 work orders estimated at $100,000 have been issued to contractors for work to be completed after 30 June 
2015. 

(b) Capital commitments
The Company has committed to purchase and/or develop a minimum of 30 properties under an agreement with Land and 
Housing NSW as part of the title transfer program over the next 10 years. During the financial year, the Company settled 
contractual agreements to purchase 4 Homes North Owned properties and put down a deposit on a block of land suitable for 
building six 2/3 bed units located in Armidale.  As at 30 June 2015, the block of land was not settled. It is anticipated that this 
will settle in December 2015 (Balance on settlement—$195,000) which will be funded from borrowings. (Refer financial risk 
management note 20 for further details.)

During the next financial year the Company plans to purchase six properties under the vested asset leverage agreement 
bringing the total properties purchased to 25.  These additional purchases will be funded from borrowings. 

17. Events after the reporting period
The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.

18. Key Management Personnel Compensation
Any persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or 
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity is considered key management personnel.  The 
totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) of the company during the year are as follows:

 2015 2014
 ($) ($)

Key management personnel compensation 599,894 488,276

19. Related parties and related party transactions
(a) Directors
No payments were made to a related party

(b) Transactions with Director-related entities
No director of the Company has, since the end of the previous financial year, received or become entitled to receive 
a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related entity with the director or with a firm which the 
member is a director, or with an entity in which the director has a substantial financial interest. There are no amounts 
payable to/or receivable from directors or director-related entities at reporting date.

20. Financial Risk Management
The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short term investments and term deposits, 
accounts receivable and payable. Homes North has a current $1 million loan finance facility secured by: a general fixed 
and floating charge; and mortgages over Homes North Owned land and buildings purchased, which is yet to be drawn 
down. The Company has approval to increase the loan facility to $2 million subject to maintenance of a 70% Leveraged 
Asset Ratio on freehold owned properties.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the 
accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

2015
($)

2014
($)

Financial Assets
Cash at Bank 627,697 1,223,870

Trade and other receivables 319,628 187,273

947,325 1,411,143

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables

519,423 466,127

Borrowings 257,600 4,431

777,023 470,558
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The company has exposure to the following financial risks:

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the company’s receivables and investment in marketable securities.

Trade and Other Receivables
The company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The company has a 
diverse range of customers and tenants with properties located throughout various North Western regional NSW communities.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as interest rates and equity prices, will affect the company’s income 
or value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Interest bearing financial assets are generally short-term (3 months or less) 
liquid assets. The company’s interest rate liability risk arises primarily from external borrowing issued at variable interest rates 
which exposes the company to cash flow interest rate risk. If interest rates were 1% higher and the $2 million approved loan 
facility was fully drawn the surplus would decrease by $20,000. If interest rates were 1% lower then the surplus would increase by 
$20,000.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The company’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure as far as possible, that it always has sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses.

As at June 2015 the company’s liquidity ratio has fallen to 0.7 (2015 ratio 1.2).  This is because the Company has expended $1.1 
million in the current year on land and buildings (non-current assets), effectively transferring current assets to non-current assets 
resulting in a reduction in the liquidity (working capital) ratio.  It is anticipated that in the coming year a maximum of $1.6 million 
in borrowings will be required to purchase additional properties under the Vested Asset Agreement.  The loan facility is variable 
interest only for a term of 15 years.  The company’s current practice is to pay down debt as cash flows allow whilst maintaining a 
working capital of no less than $500,000.  This is a long term interest only loan facility.  Therefore principal amounts outstanding 
are classified as non-current with the anticipated interest component impacting current liabilities.  Long term borrowings will 
therefore have only a minor impact on the liquidity ratio.  Under the vested property agreement with the NSW State Government, 
Homes North has committed to increase the supply of social housing properties by 30 over 10 years.  As at 30 June 2015 the 
Company held title to 19 properties.  Leverage achieved to date: on the basis of numbers 8%; on the basis of independent 
valuations 18%. The company’s strategy is to purchase the remaining properties as cash flow allows, whilst maximising future 
capital appreciation and rental cash flows from properties purchased.  The working capital ratio is therefore expected to be 
maintained at its current level of 1:1 for the next 5 years.

Operational Risk
Operational Risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the company’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and form external factors other than credit, market, and liquidity risks such 
as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.

The Company’s objective is to manage operational risks in a way that balances the avoidance of financial losses, damage to the 
company’s reputation, and avoidance of control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity, with overall cost effectiveness.  

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior 
management. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for managing operational risk in the 
following areas:

o Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions;

o Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;

o Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;

o Documented controls and procedures;

o Training and professional development;

o Ethical and Business standards;

o Adoption of Risk mitigation strategies, including insurance.

21. Economic dependency
The Company is economically dependent upon ongoing long term contracts with, and minor grant funding from, the 
NSW State Government. Should this funding or contracts be withdrawn the Company may not be able to continue all 
of the projects currently in operation.

22. Fair Value Measurements
The company has the following assets, as set out in the table below, that are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis after their initial recognition. The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a 
recurring basis and has no assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

The table below details the company’s assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being:
 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can access at 
the measurement date.
             
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly.
             
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Note Level 1 Level 2
($) ($)

Recurring fair value measurements
Investment Properties

  Freehold land and Buildings - Unrestricted 7 (i) 5,865,711 Nil
  Freehold land and Buildings - Restricted 7 (i) Nil 32,963,477

(i) Freehold land and buildings - restricted, fair values are determined by independent qualified valuers on a triennial basis 
who have experience in the location of the property.  On an annual basis the directors review the valuation reports 
and apply these valuations across the remaining portfolio taking into account fluctuations influenced by location.  Any 
properties purchased during the financial year are independently valued at the end of that financial year.

FINANCIAL STATEM
ENTS

84 HNCH Annual Report 2014/2015



Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Homes North Community Housing Company Limited, the directors 
of the company declare that:

1. The Financial Statements and notes as set out on pages 55 to 86 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and 
regulations, Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not for Profits Commission Act 2012, and the Australian Charities 
and Not for Profits Regulations 2013:

a. Comply with Australian Accounting Standards—Reduced Disclosure Requirements; and

b. Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance for 
the year ended on that date.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable.  In forming this opinion the directors have given due 
consideration to the Economic Dependency note (refer note 21).

Signed in accordance with the resolution of directors. 

Josephine Heslin (Chair) Rex Gream (Director) 

Dated this 8th day of October 2015

23. Business Merger with Inverell Community Housing
Merger with Inverell Community Housing

In April 2014 Homes North entered into a legally binding merger agreement with Inverell Community Tenancy Scheme Inc. 
trading as Inverell Community Housing (“ICH”). Under this agreement ICH agreed to transfer the business of ICH including all of 
the assets and liabilities of the Incorporated Association to Homes North at Nil consideration on 1 July 2014.   Homes North as at 
30 June 2014 estimated that the cost of upgrades to bring the transferred properties up to Land & Housing asset standard would 
be approximately $500,000.  This was disclosed as a contingent liability in the 2014 accounts and was to be partially offset by 
the transfer of the net assets and liabilities of ICH.  The net assets transferred included rental debtors of approximately $170,000 
together with $160,000 set aside in a term deposit by Inverell Community Housing for the stated purpose of upgrading capital 
properties. 

Details of the acquisition on merger are as follows:

  ($)
Cash and Cash equivalents  219,914

Trade receivables  166,522

Less impairment  (107,984)

Land and buildings  Nil

Plant and equipment  23,102

Trade payables  (130,341)

Planned maintenance liabilities  (423,000)

Other liabilities  4,886

Employee benefits  (43,512)

Rental Income in advance   (48,772)

  (339,185)

Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred 1 July 2014

Representing:

Transfer of net assets / liabilities  (339,185)

The financial effect of this merger has been brought to account in the financial statements at 30 June 2015, and is 

shown as a separate line item in the statement of profit and loss.
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HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING COMPANY LTD 
ABN 78 014 531 758 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING 

COMPANY LTD 
 

Report on the Financial Report 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Homes North Community Housing Company 
Ltd, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, and the directors' declaration. 

 
Directors'' Responsibility for the Financial Report 

 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards- Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.  
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Independence 
 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act). We confirm that the independence declaration 
required by the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), which has been 
given to the directors of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd on 8 October 2015, would be in the 
same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 
 
Audit Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial report of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd is in accordance with 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), including: 
 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 
(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards- Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Division 

60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 
 
 
 
Crowe Horwath Central North 
 

 
 
Kylie Ellis 
Partner 
90 Rusden Street 
Armidale NSW 2350 
Dated: 26 October 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Crowe Horwath Central North is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and independent 
legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 
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